Planning
Committee
Thursday, 3 June 2021 at 10.00 am
Council Chamber - Council Offices, St. Peter's Hill,
Grantham. NG31 6PZ
Committee
Members:

Councillor Bob Adams (Chairman)
Councillor Mrs Judy Smith (Vice-Chairman)
Councillor David Bellamy, Councillor Harrish Bisnauthsing, Councillor Helen
Crawford, Councillor Phil Dilks, Councillor Mike Exton, Councillor Mrs Rosemary
Kaberry-Brown, Councillor Penny Milnes, Councillor Charmaine Morgan, Councillor
Robert Reid, Councillor Ian Selby and Councillor Jacky Smith

Agenda
1. Membership and apologies for absence
4. Disclosure of interests

Members are asked to disclose any interests in matters for consideration at the meeting
3. Minutes of the meeting held on 12 May 2021

(To follow)

Planning matters
To consider applications received for the grant of planning permission – reports prepared by
the Case Officer.
The anticipated order of consideration is as shown on the agenda, but this may be subject to
change, at the discretion of the Chairman of the Committee.
4. Application S21/0021

Proposal:

Creation of tracks / internal access roads to serve
dwelling and paddocks. Surfacing of existing tracks.
Formation of new access onto Spa Road.

Location:

Spa House, Spa Road, Braceborough, PE9 4NS

Recommendation:

That the application is approved conditionally

(Pages 5 - 28)

Published and despatched by democracy@southkesteven.gov.uk on Wednesday, 19 May 2021.
 01476 406080
Karen Bradford, Chief Executive
www.southkesteven.gov.uk

5. Application S20/2201

Proposal:

Demolition of existing pavilion, erection of new
sports centre, change of use of agricultural land to
sports pitch, installation of 2 replacement sports
pitches and floodlights, and alteration to access

Location:

Stamford Junior School, Kettering Road, Stamford

Recommendation:

That the application is approved conditionally

6. Application S20/0908

Proposal:

Erection of 3 detached houses

Location:

Land Off Kettering Road, Stamford, Lincolnshire,
PE9 2JS

Recommendation:

That the application be approved conditionally

7. Application S21/0443

Proposal:
space
B2/B8

Erection of warehouse with ancillary showroom
for Kyoto Futons, 13 small Employment units for
use together with car parking and vehicle servicing
areas.

Location:

Kyoto Futons Ltd, Hards Lane, Frognall, PE6 8RP

Recommendation:

That the application is approved conditionally

8. Application S21/0309

Proposal:

Erection of 14 no. small industrial units, B1, B2 and
B8 use, including storage, warehouse and
associated works, including fenced service yard
area (Amended design as previously approved
under reference number S20/1192)

Location:

Land at Spitfire Business Park, Northfield Road,
Market Deeping, PE6 8GY

Recommendation:

That the application is approved conditionally

9. Application S20/2018

Proposal:

Outline application for a single storey dwelling

Location:

17 Churchill Avenue, Bourne, PE10 9QA

Recommendation:

That the application is approved conditionally

10. Application S20/1915

Proposal:

Change of use from agricultural to equestrian,
construction of new vehicle access, stable block,
menage, alterations to drainage and extension of
domestic garden

Location:

Ellfield House, Hanthorpe Road, Stainfield

Recommendation:

Approved Conditionally

(Pages 29 - 50)

(Pages 51 - 70)

(Pages 71 - 93)

(Pages 95 - 112)

(Pages 113 - 125)

(Pages 127 - 137)

11. Any other business, which the Chairman, by reason of special circumstances,

decides is urgent

PUBLIC SPEAKING
Anyone who would like to speak at the meeting should notify Democratic Services on
democracy@southkesteven.gov.uk at least one working day, before the time of the meeting.
The deadline for the meeting to be held on Thursday 3 June 2021, will be 10am on
Wednesday 2 June 2021.
If you would like to include photographs or other information as part of your presentation to the
Committee, please send the information in an electronic format relevant case officer at least one
working day before the meeting. If you are submitting hard copy information, please send it to the
relevant case officer at least two working days before the meeting.
All speakers are at the Committee Chairman’s (or Vice-Chairman’s) discretion. Each person is
allowed to speak for 3 minutes. Members of the Council are allowed to speak for 5 minutes in
accordance with Council Procedure Rules.
One person for the applicant or the town and parish council will be allowed to speak. Where an
application has several supporters or objectors, they are encouraged to appoint a representative
to present a joint case.
Committee members may only ask questions of the applicant, the applicant’s agent or technical
experts speaking for or against an application.
The Chairman and Vice-Chairman of the Committee may ask questions of members of the public
but only to verify the source of any material facts stated by a public speaker.
ORDER OF PROCEEDINGS
1. Short introductory presentation by the case officer
2. Speakers (Committee members will ask questions after each speaker)
a) District Councillors who are not Committee members
b) Representative from town/parish council
c) Objectors to an application
d) Supporters of an application
e) The applicant or agent for the applicant
3. Debate – Councillors will discuss the application and make proposals
4. Vote – the Committee will vote to agree its decision

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 4
Planning Committee
3 June 2021

S21/0021
Proposal:
Location:
Applicant:
Agent:
Application Type:
Reason for Referral to
Committee:
Key Issues:

Technical Documents:

Creation of tracks / internal access roads to serve dwelling and
paddocks. Surfacing of existing tracks. Formation of new access onto
Spa Road.
Spa House, Spa Road, Braceborough, PE9 4NS
Mr D Ivtsan
Mr Mike Sibthorp
Full Planning Permission
Residential amenity
Potential light pollution
Character and appearance of the area
Potential impacts on wildlife
Supporting statement

Report Author
Phil Jordan, Principal Planning Officer
01476 406074
p.jordan@southkesteven.gov.uk
Corporate Priority:

Decision type:

Wards:

Growth

Regulatory

Dole Wood

Reviewed by:

Jeff Upton, Interim Head of Planning

19 May 2021

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s)
That the application is approved conditionally

5

S21/0021 – Spa House, Spa Road, Braceborough, PE9 4NS

6

Addendum to Committee Report S21/0021
1

Introduction

1.1

Members will recall that this application was previously discussed at the Planning
Committee meeting on 14 April 2021 (report at Appendix 1). At the meeting, the
Committee resolved it was minded to refuse the application contrary to officer
recommendation. Those Members who voted for the proposition were required to submit
their reasons for refusal for consideration at a future Planning Committee meeting.

1.2

The relevant minutes of that meeting were as follows:

1.3

In considering the application, Members raised some concerns, including:
•
•
•

The proposed lighting scheme along the new track was found to be excessive and
Members suggested that low-level downwards facing lighting should be used.
The impact on the residential amenity of the neighbouring property was considered to
be detrimental.
Members suggested that the application did not comply with policy DE1 due to the
impact of light, the impact of residential amenity of the neighbouring property and the
loss of privacy.

1.4

Following the concerns raised during the debate, Members were advised that the points
raised could be robustly addressed and mitigated through conditioning.

1.5

A proposition was put forward that the Committee be minded to refuse the application. As
the proposition to refuse the application was contrary to officer recommendations, the
cooling off period set out in Article 9.1.9 (c) of the Council’s Constitution was invoked, in
line with the meeting procedure for virtual Planning Committee meetings.

1.6

As Councillor Mrs Jacky Smith had experienced technical issues and had not been
present for the full discussion of this item, she did not participate in the vote.

1.7

In accordance with the Constitution, a recorded vote was taken:
For: Councillors Bellamy, Bisnauthsing, Dilks, Kaberry-Brown and Milnes (5)
Against: Councillor Reid (1)
Abstain: Councillors Crawford, Exton, Selby and Adams (4)

1.8

The vote was carried and those Committee Members who voted in favour of the
proposition had five working days to provide the Interim Head of Planning with the
planning reasons for their view, together with supporting evidence. The application would
be placed on the agenda for consideration at a future meeting of the Planning Committee
when the Interim Head of Planning would provide his opinion on whether the reasons
advanced were substantial enough for the authority to defend the decision at an inquiry.

1.9

In light of any additional information, the Committee would then be empowered to
determine the application without being fettered by their vote at the previous meeting.

7

2

Reasons for Refusal Assessment

2.1

Following the resolution of minded to refuse application S21/0021 at the Planning
Committee meeting of 14 April 2021, Councillors Bellamy, Bisnauthsing, Dilks, KaberryBrown and Milnes submitted reasons for refusal.

2.2

In line with paragraph 9.1.9 (c)(v) of Article 9 of the Council’s Constitution, this report sets
out the reasons for refusal together with the Interim Head of Planning’s opinion on whether
the reasons advanced are substantial enough for the authority to defend the decision at an
appeal.

2.3

Cllr Bellamy – Proposed reasons for refusal:

2.3.1

The development fails to comply with policy EN4, as it sets a precedent for lighting in open
country which would damage the character of the area and cause further and unnecessary
degradation to wildlife habitat.

2.3.2

The track as it was before the development provided a corridor for local wildlife networks
2.104 Local Plan and does not achieve any net gain in biodiversity.

2.3.3

The development will cause harm to the neighbouring properties amenity by noise and
light pollution and fails to make a positive contribution to local distinctiveness of the area
by damaging the landscape policy DE1.

2.4

Cllr Bisnauthsing – Proposed reasons for refusal:

2.4.1

This development does not comply with our Policy EN4, in the way that it will allow ‘Light
Pollution’ in the open countryside. This, I believe will disturb and degrade the Wildlife
Habitat.

2.4.2

Also Policy EN3, where this application is destroying the Green Infrastructure around the
settlement. Already there is substantial removal of green vegetation close the Newly Laid
Track, which has caused substantial thinning of the Shrubs and trees, hence loss of
privacy for the occupants of the White House.

2.4.3

The New Track causes loss to biodiversity and the corridor for the wildlife is loss. Also
Policy EN3 2.111 refers to Light Pollution to the effect of excessive or intrusive lighting
arising from poor or insensitive design.

2.4.4

Also 2.109 which refers to the Aim of NPPF is to ensure that new development do not
Harm existing Resident, Future Residents or the natural environment. This new Track as
laid out, close to the existing residents’ boundary has caused Harm. Also the Drive and
the Wider Gate to accessing the Field where it is expected to Run Events will cause
further Harm to the Tranquil Environment in the countryside and neighbouring property by
Noise and Light Pollution.

8

2.4.5

Policy DE1 Refers here, it is supposed to make ‘a positive contribution to the Character of
the Area’ but it does not it has removed a number of trees and therefore has affected the
Character and Appearance of the area.

2.4.6

Also Policy EN2 s supposed to be protecting Biodiversity and Geodiversity, in the interest
of the natural environment, i.e the local wildlife site will be affected.

2.4.7

I would also like to add Article 8 of the Human Rights, that the Right to a private family life
and Home is affected here. The Resident’s of the White House is affected.

2.4.8

Finally, I strongly believe this is a ‘Retrospective Planning App’. Due to work already
carried out, which will be difficult to reinstate.

2.5

Cllr Dilks – Proposed reasons for refusal:

2.5.1

CONTRARY TO LOCAL PLAN POLICIES DE1 AND EN4:

2.5.2

Extract from DE1 (my capitals)

2.5.3

“To ensure high quality design…ALL development proposals will be expected to:
Make a positive contribution to the local distinctiveness, vernacular and character of the
area. Proposals should reinforce local identity and not have an adverse impact on the
….settlement pattern or the landscape…character of the surrounding area. Proposals
should be of an appropriate scale, density, massing, height and material, given the context
of the area:
ENSURE THERE IS NO ADVERSE IMPACT ON THE AMENITY OF NEIGHBOURING
USERS IN TERMS OF NOISE, LIGHT POLLUTION, LOSS OF PRIVACY….”

2.5.4

This application clearly fails on almost every aspect of paragraph A, and every aspect of
paragraph B.

2.5.5

The officer report clearly accepted that there would be adverse impact, but that it was
considered to be an acceptable level of adverse impact. However, DE1 makes it clear
there should “NO” adverse impact.

2.5.6

The development is totally out of context of the rural area given that Spa House is already
served with a perfectly adequate access.

2.5.7

There has been no evidence presented to justify either the application generally nor the
use of ‘street lighting’ within the application.

2.5.8

In addition, I support colleagues further reasons for refusal, notably, failure to comply with
EN4 –lighting in open countryside,

2.6

Cllr Kaberry-Brown – Proposed reasons for refusal:

9

2.6.1

The development does not comply with policy EN4 due to setting a president for lighting in
open country; which not only upsets the character of the countryside, but also effects the
development of wildlife habitat.

2.6.2

The track provided a corridor for local wildlife and this planning application does will not
achieve the requirements of the Local Plan with no net gain in biodiversity.

2.6.3

The neighbouring properties will suffer from noise and light pollution because of this
development and the landscape and local distinctiveness will be lost if this goes ahead –
see landscape policy DE1.

2.7

Cllr Milnes – Proposed reasons for refusal:

2.7.1

The proposed access to the South of Spa Holt is additional to the existing access to the
north which currently serves the property, with no clear justifiable need submitted. This is
excessive and creates a negative change to the countryside character and setting of Spa
Holt and results in an adverse impact on the residential amenity in terms of privacy and
noise and light pollution and does not make a positive contribution to the local
distinctiveness of the area.

2.7.2

Contrary to Local Plan Policies: DE1 a) b) d), EN4 and NPPF Section 12

2.7.3

Both the proposed track and the lighting proposed will have an adverse impact on wildlife
habitat corridors and networks in the area as well as the character of the dark open
countryside. There are no net gains in biodiversity.

2.7.4

Contrary to Local Plan Policy: EN2, EN3, EN4 and NPPF Section 1

3

Comments of the Interim Head of Planning

3.1

The proposed reasons for refusal relate to the following key points:
• Light pollution
• Adverse impact on the character of the area
• Adverse impact on residential amenity
• Adverse impact on ecology and biodiversity
• Lack of need for an additional access
• Retrospective nature of application

3.2
3.2.1

Light pollution
Since the Planning Committee on 14 April, the applicant has amended the proposal to
completely remove the lighting element from the proposal, so light pollution is no longer a
factor that needs to be considered as part of the proposal.

3.3
3.3.1

Adverse impact on the character of the area
This is a matter requiring a degree of planning judgment. The applicant has amended the
proposal to include landscaping in the form of a native hedge along the southern boundary
of Spa Holt, and a field maple adjacent the gates on Spa Road. Images of the site prior to
the commencement of development show only a single mature (multi-stemmed) tree, and

10

no hedge at the front. With the new planting in place therefore, any harm to the character
of the area is not considered to be sufficient to justify a refusal.
3.4
3.4.1

Adverse impact on residential amenity
Again, this is a matter of planning judgement. The existing access passes closer to Spa
Holt than the proposed access and there would be no additional traffic as a result of this
proposal. The amended proposal, including planting of the hedge at the southern
boundary with Spa Holt would provide protection for the privacy afforded to this
neighbouring dwelling. The revised proposal is therefore not considered to be harmful to
residential amenity.

3.5
3.5.1

Adverse impact on ecology and biodiversity
Officers made an additional visit to the site on 28th April, and the site was inspected for
evidence that any hedgerows had been removed. While there were clear signs that plants
and shrubbery had been removed from around the northern and eastern boundaries
surrounding Spa Holt, there was no sign of either the linear rows of stumps, or of the
substantial disturbance of ground, which would indicate hedgerow removal. The removal
of lighting from the proposal would avoid potential harm to nocturnal wildlife such as bats.
The inclusion of a new indigenous hedge (of hawthorn, blackthorn and holly) along the
southern boundary of Spa Holt, together with the replacement tree at the junction would
mitigate any loss of biodiversity, and this is not therefore considered to provide sufficient
grounds for refusal.

3.6
3.6.1

Lack of need for an additional access
This is not considered to provide valid grounds for a refusal. Neither national planning
policy (in the form of the NPPF) or the South Kesteven Local Plan require an assessment
of need for proposed development. This issue has arisen previously at an appeal against
the Council’s refusal of permission of permission for an access track (see SKDC ref
S19/1753, Appeal ref APP/E2530/W/20/3250813), and the Planning Inspector considered
that this was not relevant in the determination of the application.

3.7
3.7.1

Retrospective nature of application
This is not considered to provide valid grounds for a refusal. Planning applications should
be considered individually on their planning merits whether they are retrospective or not.

4

Additional Consultation Responses

4.1

Following receipt of amended plans, the Council has re-consulted neighbours and the
Parish Council. One additional representation has been received since the previous
planning committee meeting, raising the following issues:
i)
ii)
iii)

Noise from vehicles waiting outside the proposed gates would harm residential
amenity.
Vehicle traffic would harm residential amenity through loss of privacy.
There might be increased traffic in future.

11

5

Conclusion

5.1

In reaching a decision on the application, the Committee must consider the proposals in
the round having regard to relevant Local Plan and national policies together with any
other relevant material considerations. The Committee must also consider whether any
proposed reasons for refusal are substantive enough to be defensible at appeal.

5.2

In conclusion, and in line with the Council’s Constitution, the Interim Head of Planning has
considered fully the written reasons for refusal provided by the Councillors who wished to
refuse the application. The application has been amended since the previous report to
remove the proposed lighting and to provide additional landscaping near the boundary of
the neighbouring residential property. These amendments have been the subject of
further consultation. The application, as amended, is considered to address any legitimate
reasons for planning permission being refused. This takes into account the reasons put
forward by members and the additional representation received in response to additional
consultation on the amended proposals. Therefore, members are advised that planning
permission should be granted, subject to the following conditions.
Approved Plans
1

The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the
following list of approved plans:
i. Drawing No. MSP.239/002C received on 19 April 2021
ii. Drawing No. MSP.239/004B received on 20 April 2021
Unless otherwise required by another condition of this permission.
Reason: To define the permission and for the avoidance of doubt.

Before the Development is Brought into Use
2

Before the end of the first planting/seeding season following the first use of any part
of the development hereby permitted, all soft landscape works shall have been
carried out in accordance with the approved soft landscaping details.
Reason: Soft landscaping and tree planting make an important contribution to the
development and its assimilation with its surroundings and in accordance with
Policies DE1, EN3 and OS1 of the adopted South Kesteven Local Plan.

Ongoing Conditions
3

Within a period of five years from the development hereby permitted being brought
into use, any trees or plants provided as part of the approved soft landscaping
scheme, that die or become, in the opinion of the Local Planning Authority, seriously
damaged or defective, shall be replaced in the first planting season following any
such loss with a specimen of the same size and species as was approved in
condition above unless otherwise agreed by the Local Planning Authority.

12

Reason: To ensure the provision, establishment and maintenance of a reasonable
standard of landscape in accordance with the approved designs and in accordance
with Policies DE1, EN3 and OS1 of the adopted South Kesteven Local Plan.

13

Block Plan

14

Entrance detail

Financial Implications reviewed by: Not applicable
Legal Implications reviewed by: Not applicable

15

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix 1

Planning Committee
14 April 2021

S21/0021
Proposal:
Location:
Applicant:
Agent:
Application Type:
Reason for Referral to
Committee:
Key Issues:

Technical Documents:

Creation of tracks / internal access roads to serve dwelling and
paddocks. Surfacing of existing tracks. Lighting. Formation of new
access onto Spa Road.
Spa House, Spa Road, Braceborough, PE9 4NS
Mr D Ivtsan
Mr Mike Sibthorp
Full Planning Permission
Residential amenity
Potential light pollution
Character and appearance of the area
Potential impacts on wildlife
Supporting statement

Report Author
Steve Cadman, Development Management Planner
01476 406383
s.cadman@southkesteven.gov.uk
Corporate Priority:

Decision type:

Wards:

Growth

Regulatory

Dole Wood

Reviewed by:

Phil Jordan, Principal Planning Officer
Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s)
Approved conditionally

17

29 March 2021

S21/0021 Spa House, Spa Road, Braceborough, PE9 4NS

18

1

Description of Site

1.1

The site is located in the open countryside, approximately 1.2km north-west of the village
of Braceborough. The site is reached via Spa Road - a narrow public highway running
from the north-western edge of the village and terminating at the western edge of the site.
The current vehicle access from Spa Road lies to the north of the dwelling known as Spa
Holt and runs close to the northern boundary of this property.

1.2

The site comprises a complex of buildings, including Spa House itself and domestic
equestrian buildings, plus paddock land and an area of woodland (identified as "The
Wilderness" on OS maps), and located towards the middle of the site.

2

Description of proposal

2.1

This amended application proposes the construction of a number of new tracks around the
site, the resurfacing of some existing tracks, and the construction of a new vehicle access
on the southern side of Spa Holt. The tracks would be surfaced using permeable tarmac,
with a loose chip surface dressing. There would be low-level lighting along some parts of
the track.

2.2

The proposal under consideration is an amended version of the one originally submitted,
with changes made to the lighting scheme in response to the concerns of officers
regarding its potential impact on the character and appearance of the surrounding area.

3

Relevant History

3.1

No relevant planning history

4

Policy Considerations

4.1

SKDC Local Plan 2011 - 2036
Policy DE1 - Promoting Good Quality Design
Policy EN4 - Pollution Control
Policy EN5 - Water Environment and Flood Risk Management
Policy ID2 - Transport and Strategic Transport Infrastructure

4.2

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)
Section 9 - Promoting sustainable transport
Section 12 - Achieving well-designed places
Section 14 - Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change
Section 15 - Conserving and enhancing the natural environment

19

5

Representations Received

5.1
5.1.1

LCC Highways & SuDS Support
With reference to the above application received 11 January 2021 Notice is hereby given
that the County Council as Local Highway and Lead Local Flood Authority does not wish
to restrict the grant of permission.

5.1.2

This proposal does not adversely impact the public highway, the creation of internal site
roads will not materially affect the existing surface water regime.

5.2
5.2.1

Environment Agency
The Environment Agency does not wish to make any comments on this application.

5.3
5.3.1

Environmental Protection Services (SKDC)
Reference your memorandum dated 11th January 2021, Environmental Protection has
reviewed the documents in respect of the above application and has no comments to
make.

5.4
5.4.1

Cadent Gas Limited
National Grid has no objection to the above proposal.

5.5
5.5.1

Welland & Deeping Internal Drainage Board
The site falls outside of the Boards area, but falls within the extended area. Upon viewing
the drawings there does not appear to be any water courses being altered, culverted etc.
and therefore have no comments to make.

6

Representations as a Result of Publicity

6.1

This application has been advertised in accordance with the Council's Statement of
Community Involvement and 1 letter of representation has been received. The points
raised can be summarised as follows:
1.
2.

Harm to residential amenity through loss of privacy.
Harm to residential amenity as a result of light pollution.

7

Evaluation

7.1
7.1.1

Principle of development
Although the site is located in the open countryside, the proposal is for private roads (plus
associated lighting) to service an existing dwelling and existing private domestic
equestrian buildings. It would not result in a material intensification of the use of the site
and the principle of development is therefore acceptable.

7.2

Impact on the character of the area

7.2.1

Local Plan Policy DE1 requires development to make a positive contribution to the
character of the area. This is consistent with NPPF Section 12 (Achieving well-designed

20

places) which amongst other things states that developments should be visually attractive
as a result of good architecture, layout and effective landscaping.
7.2.2

Local Plan Policy EN4 states that development resulting in significant pollution (including
light pollution) will not be permitted unless the potential adverse effects can be mitigated to
an acceptable level by other environmental controls, or by measures included in the
proposals. This is consistent with section 15 of the NPPF, which states that planning
decisions should ensure that development is appropriate for its location, limiting the impact
of light pollution from artificial light on local amenity and nature conservation.

7.2.3

Although a substantial part of the site is relatively remote, and set well back from any
public vantage point, the western end of the proposed scheme meets with the public
highway of Spa Road, and would be clearly seen from public vantage points along this.

7.2.4

The proposal would result in the removal of a number of (non-protected trees), and some
of this work has already been carried out. However, a condition has been recommended
requiring approval of a landscaping scheme for the area around the junction with the
public highway of Spa Road. This is considered sufficient to avoid harm to the character
and appearance of the area and mitigate and loss of habitat through the removal of trees
in accordance with policy DE1.

7.2.5

The location of the site is relatively remote - it is set in the open countryside, and more
than 1km away from all of the nearby villages with their associated street lighting. Given
this, the absence of artificial lighting and the relative darkness after sunset are considered
to form a significant part of the character of the area. It is noted that the proposed scheme
involves low-level lighting, sited close to the ground rather than typical street lighting or
floodlighting, which is located high up, so as to maximise the area of ground which is
illuminated.

7.2.6

Although the site is relatively remote, it is not located in an area which receives special
protection because of its dark skies (such as a National Park for example). Because of
this, and the nature of the proposed lighting, it is not considered that the proposal would
cause sufficient light pollution to have a significantly harmful impact through its
contribution to the background "skyglow".

7.2.7

The initially-submitted proposal has been amended, with much of the lighting removed,
including from the area closest to the public highway of Spa Road. Although it has been
retained along the line of the former railway tracks, this part of the track sits at a lower
level than the surrounding land and would be less prominent. In addition, a condition has
been attached requiring approval of the details of the lighting prior to implementation.
With this condition in place, it is considered that sufficient controls are in place to control
the impacts of the lighting scheme, and it is not therefore considered that the proposal
would cause harm to the character and appearance of the area through light pollution.

7.2.8

The proposal would therefore be in keeping with the surrounding context in accordance
with Local Plan Polices DE1 and EN4 and NPPF (sections 12 and 15).

21

7.3

Impact on residential amenity (of neighbours)

7.3.1

Local Plan policy DE1 requires all development proposals to ensure there is no adverse
impact on the amenity of neighbouring users in terms of noise, light pollution, loss of
privacy and loss of light. This is consistent with the NPPF (section 12) (Achieving welldesigned places) which amongst other things states that development should create
places with a high standard of amenity for existing and future users.

7.3.2

Although the proposal would result in the construction of a private road close to the
boundary with Spa Holt, it is noted that vehicles moving to and from Spa Farm already
move along a track adjacent to the northern boundary with this property. There would
therefore be no further harm to the residential amenity of this property through noise
beyond the existing situation. A condition has been recommended requiring agreement of
a landscaping scheme prior to first use of the road. The implementation of a suitable
boundary treatment is considered to be sufficient to prevent harm to the privacy afforded
to this neighbouring property. The proposed lighting scheme involves illumination located
close to the ground, limiting the area which would be lit up. Together with amendments
which have removed the proposed lighting from the area around Spa Holt, this is
considered to be sufficient to ensure that the lighting scheme would not be harmful to the
residential amenity of this neighbouring property.

7.3.3

Given the location in the open countryside, the proposal would be set sufficiently far away
from all other nearby properties such that it would not harm their residential amenity
through noise, loss of privacy or light pollution either.

7.3.4

Taking into account the scale and nature of the proposal, and adequate separation
distances, there would be no unacceptable adverse impact on the residential amenities of
the occupiers of adjacent properties in accordance with Local Plan Policy DE1 and the
NPPF (section 12).

7.4

Highway issues

7.4.1

Local Plan Policy ID2 deals with transport issues, requiring that new developments should
not severely impact on the safety and movement of traffic on the highway network. This
policy is consistent with the NPPF (section 9) (Promoting Sustainable Transport) which
amongst other things states that development should only be prevented or refused on
highways grounds if there would be an unacceptable impact on highway safety, or the
residual cumulative impacts on the road network would be severe.

7.4.2

It is noted that Lincolnshire County Council (as Local Highway Authority) have no
objections to the proposal. In view of this, it is considered that the proposal would result in
adequate access, parking and turning facilities and would not have an unacceptable
adverse impact on highway safety in accordance with Local Plan policy ID2 and the NPPF
(section 9).

22

7.5

Ecology

7.5.1

Local Plan policy EN2 together with NPPF (section 15) require developments to contribute
towards conservation and enhancement of biodiversity and avoid and/or mitigate any
adverse impacts.

7.5.2

Although the proposal is located in the open countryside, it is not close to any area given
special protection by reasons of ecology (for example a SSSI). The proposal involves a
lighting scheme, however this is to be located close to the ground, avoiding the issues
seen with street lighting where bats avoid flying underneath the lighting. Further, the
landscaping scheme would ensure any loss of habitat through the removal of trees could
be sufficiently mitigated through replacement planting.

7.5.3

In this respect the proposal is acceptable and in accordance with Local Plan policy EN2
and the NPPF (section 15).

7.6

Drainage and Flooding

7.6.1

Local Plan policy EN5 together with NPPF (section 14) seeks to direct development to
areas with the least probability of flooding, together with implementation of SuDS drainage
where possible, in order to minimise surface water runoff.

7.6.2

Although parts of the site are located in Flood Zone 3, it would not result in the introduction
of a dwelling or a more vulnerable land use to the site. Further, the track is proposed to be
constructed of a permeable material and would therefore not result in any additional
surface water run-off. It is noted that Lincolnshire County Council as Lead Local Flood
Authority have raised no objections to the proposal.

7.6.3

In summary, the proposal is in accordance with Local Plan policy EN5 and the NPPF
(section 14: Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change).

7.7

Crime and Disorder

7.7.1

It is considered that the proposal would not result in any significant crime and disorder
implications.

7.8

Human Rights Implications

7.8.1

Articles 6 (Rights to fair decision making) and Article 8 (Right to private family life and
home) of the Human Rights Act have been taken into account in making this
recommendation. It is considered that no relevant Article of that act will be breached.

7.9

Conclusion and Planning Balance

7.9.1

The proposal is in accordance with Local Plan policies DE1,EN2,EN4, EN5 and the NPPF
(sections 9,12,14 and 15) and there are no material considerations that indicate otherwise,
and the proposal is therefore acceptable.

23

RECOMMENDATION: that the development is Approved subject to the following
conditions
Time Limit for Commencement
1

The development hereby permitted shall be commenced before the expiration of
three years from the date of this permission.
Reason: In order that the development is commenced in a timely manner, as set out
in Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended).

Approved Plans
2

The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the
following list of approved plans:
i.

Drawing No. MSP.239/002A received on 29th March 2021

Unless otherwise required by another condition of this permission.
Reason: To define the permission and for the avoidance of doubt.
Before the Development is Brought into Use
3

Before the new vehicle access is brought into use, details of any soft landscaping
works shall have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. Details shall include:
i.
ii.
iii.

planting plans;
written specifications (including cultivation and other operations associated
with plant and grass establishment);
schedules of plants, noting species, plant sizes and proposed
numbers/densities where appropriate.

Reason: Soft landscaping and tree planting make an important contribution to the
development and its assimilation with its surroundings and in accordance with
Policies DE1, EN3 and OS1 of the adopted South Kesteven Local Plan.
4

No lighting for the access tracks/roads hereby approved shall be brought into use
without the specification (including lux levels) of the lighting being first submitted and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The lighting scheme shall then
be implemented in accordance with the agreed details.

5

Before the end of the first planting/seeding season following the first use of any part
of the development hereby permitted, all soft landscape works shall have been
carried out in accordance with the approved soft landscaping details.
Reason: Soft landscaping and tree planting make an important contribution to the
development and its assimilation with its surroundings and in accordance with
Policies DE1, EN3 and OS1 of the adopted South Kesteven Local Plan.

24

Ongoing Conditions
6

Within a period of five years from the development hereby permitted being brought
into use, any trees or plants provided as part of the approved soft landscaping
scheme, that die or become, in the opinion of the Local Planning Authority, seriously
damaged or defective, shall be replaced in the first planting season following any
such loss with a specimen of the same size and species as was approved in
condition above unless otherwise agreed by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: To ensure the provision, establishment and maintenance of a reasonable
standard of landscape in accordance with the approved designs and in accordance
with Policies DE1, EN3 and OS1 of the adopted South Kesteven Local Plan.

Standard Note(s) to Applicant:
1

This site has been identified as being at risk from contaminated land. Please contact
Environmental Protection Services on 01476 406300 for further information.

2

The permitted development requires the formation of a new/amended vehicular
access. These works will require approval from the Highway Authority in accordance
with Section 184 of the Highways Act. The works should be constructed in
accordance with the Authority's specification that is current at the time of
construction. Relocation of existing apparatus, underground services or street
furniture will be the responsibility of the applicant, prior to application. For approval
and specification details, please contact vehiclecrossings@lincolnshire.gov.uk
Financial Implications reviewed by: Not applicable
Legal Implications reviewed by: Not applicable

25

Location Plan

26

Block Plan

27

28

Agenda Item 5
Planning Committee
3 June 2021

S20/2201
Proposal:
Location:
Applicant:
Agent:
Application Type:
Reason for Referral to
Committee:
Key Issues:

Technical Documents:

Demolition of existing pavilion, erection of new sports centre, change
of use of agricultural land to sports pitch, installation of 2 replacement
sports pitches and floodlights, and alteration to access
Stamford Junior School, Kettering Road, Stamford
Stamford Endowed Schools
Kate Wood, Barker Storey Matthews, The Lawns, 33 Thorpe Road,
Peterborough
Full Planning Permission (Major)
Major Development
Principle of development
Impact on the character of the area
The Historic Environment
Residential amenity
Highway and transport infrastructure
Flood risk and drainage
Ecology and biodiversity
Sustainability
Planning Statement
Design and Access Statement
Heritage Statement
Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment
Aboricultural Impact Assessment
Flood Risk Assessment
Ecological Impact Assessment
Noise Assessment
Floodlighting Design
Statement of Community Involvement
Geophysical Survey
Geo-environmental Assessment
Highways and Transport Note

Report Author
Phil Jordan, Principal Planning Officer
01476 406080
p.jordan@southkesteven.gov.uk
29

Corporate Priority:

Decision type:

Wards:

Growth

Regulatory

Stamford St Mary's

Reviewed by:

Chris Brown, Principal Planning Officer

19 May 2021

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s)
That the application is approved conditionally

30

S20/2201 – Stamford School, Kettering Road, Stamford

31

1

Description of Site

1.1

The site is located to the south of Kettering Road, to the south-west of Stamford. To the
east is a new development of five houses which are currently under construction,
approved under S18/1207. To the south is open countryside, beyond which lies the village
of Wothorpe. To the north, and on the opposite side of Kettering Road, is Stamford Junior
School. To the west, across Kettering Road, are sports fields associated with the school.
The southern part of the site is within the Peterborough City Council administrative area.

1.2

A public footpath crosses the field from Wothorpe towards the south-east corner of the
site, before running northwards to join Kettering Road at a point to the west of the pavilion.
The site is largely bound by hedgerows, with a denser cluster of trees to the east of site.

1.3

The site is currently occupied by a synthetic sports pitch, with floodlighting and a sports
pavilion, all associated with the school. Access to the site is from Kettering Road for both
vehicles and pedestrians. There is no car park on the site, with any associated vehicles
being required to park across the road at the school.

2

Description of Proposal

2.1

The application proposes the demolition of the existing pavilion and the erection of a new
and improved sports centre. The application also includes some development into the
agricultural land to the south to facilitate the installation of an additional sports pitch. This
would be achieved by rotating the current pitch alignment by 90 degrees and using some
additional land to the south. This would not affect the route of the existing public footpath.
Both pitches would be lit by the installation of new 15m high floodlighting columns.

2.2

The application states the proposal is to address a growing demand and current lack of
facilities for girls’ sport within the school. The school has also provided a statement,
setting out their strategy and policy for making their sports facilities available for wider
community use.

2.3

The replacement sports centre / pavilion would provide improved changing facilities, staff
facilities, a small kitchen, social area, a gym and dance studios. The pavilion would be
orientated so that the long elevation faces the hockey pitches, in order to facilitate a raised
viewing area for parents and visitors to watch matches. The sports centre would be
approximately 75m x 20m, and has been designed with a dual pitch roof, with ridge
heights of 6m and 8m.

32

3

Relevant History
Reference

Proposal

Decision

Date

S99/0373

New sports pavilion

15/07/1999

S05/0232

Synthetic hockey pitch with fencing &
floodlights & hard surface tennis courts

Approved
Conditionally
Approved
Conditionally

07/04/2005

4

Policy Considerations

4.1

SKDC Local Plan 2011 - 2036
Policy SD1 - The Principles of Sustainable Development in South Kesteven
Policy SP1 - Spatial Strategy
Policy SP2 - Settlement Hierarchy
Policy SP4 – Development on the edge of settlements
Policy SP6 – Community Services and Facilities
Policy EN1 - Landscape Character
Policy EN2 - Protecting Biodiversity and Geodiversity
Policy EN3 - Green Infrastructure
Policy EN4 – Pollution Control
Policy EN5 - Water Environment and Flood Risk Management
Policy EN6 - The Historic Environment
Policy DE1 – Promoting Good Quality Design
Policy SB1 – Sustainable Building
Policy ID2 - Transport and Strategic Transport Infrastructure
Policy OS1 – Open Space

4.2

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)
Section 8 – Promoting healthy and safe communities
Section 9 – Promoting sustainable transport
Section 12 - Achieving well-designed places
Section 15 – Conserving and enhancing the natural environment
Section 16 – Conserving and enhancing the historic environment

4.3

Emerging Stamford Neighbourhood Plan

5

Representations Received

5.1
5.1.1

Stamford Town Council
No objection. Contractors to make good damage to verge or kerbing associated with this
development.

5.2
5.2.1

Wothorpe and St Martins Without Parish Council
Support the principle of development and raise the following concerns:
− Use should be restricted to a sports pitch and pavilion, there should be no sale of
alcohol.
− Hours of operation should be restricted to 8am – 9pm.

33

− Light pollution should be minimised.
− A reduction in the speed limit along Kettering Road to 20mph should be considered.
5.3
5.3.1

Peterborough City Council
The pending planning application (reference: S20/2201) is a dual planning application with
both South Kesteven District Council and Peterborough City Council. The reference
number for the planning application with Peterborough City Council is 20/01724/FUL.

5.4
5.4.1

LCC Highways & SuDS Support
No objection in relation to highway impacts, subject to a condition securing a construction
management plan.

5.4.2

The Flood Risk Assessment and Drainage proposals are an improvement over the
existing conditions. Surface water will continue to be discharged to the Anglian Water
surface water sewer, but the proposal includes for attenuation so that the discharge rate is
reduced from existing, providing an improvement. The detailed design for the surface
water proposals has yet to be undertaken and it is therefore conditioned below.

5.5
5.5.1

Highways England
No objection.

5.6
5.6.1

Anglian Water
The foul drainage from this development is in the catchment of Stamford Water Recycling
Centre that will have available capacity for these flows. Request a condition regarding a
surface water drainage strategy.

5.7
5.7.1

Environmental Protection
Lighting - The applicant shall install the lighting as scheme proposed in the design and
access statement (section 4.7) and detailed in report SSL2884 submitted with the
application.

5.7.2

Geo Environmental - The applicant has submitted a phase I & II geo-environmental
assessment for the proposed development. Environmental Protection are satisfied with the
results and conclusions phase I & II assessment that has been undertaken and that the
applicant undertakes the geo-environmental recommendations made in Section 10.0 of
the report (EAL.105.20)

5.7.3

Noise - The submitted acoustic impact report for the proposed development has been
reviewed by Environmental Protection. The applicant shall implement the
recommendations of the report such that:
− All perimeter fencing is fixed to support posts with a neoprene isolator installed to
fully isolate the panels from the posts.
− The applicant constructs the proposed 1 metre high earth bund with a 2.5m high
solid timber fence to the southern boundary.
− The existing hours of operation and use of the sports facility remain as currently
permitted.

34

5.8
5.8.1

Historic England
Recommend early stage archaeological investigations.

5.9
5.9.1

Heritage Lincolnshire
It is considered that the site offers a potential for archaeological remains to be
encountered during development. Therefore, it is recommended that the developer should
be required to commission a Scheme of Archaeological Works, according to a written
scheme of investigation to be agreed with, submitted to and approved by the local
authority. Initially I envisage that this would involve monitoring of all groundworks, with the
ability to stop and fully record archaeological features.

5.10
Conservation Officer
5.10.1 No objection. The proposal will have very little impact on heritage assets as per the
Heritage Impact Assessment submitted. The design and the materials for the new pavilion
are considered to be supportable in this location.
5.11
Gardens Trust
5.11.1 No comments to make.
5.12
Sport England
5.12.1 No objection, subject to condition securing community use agreement for proposed
facilities.

6

Representations as a Result of Publicity

6.1

This application has been advertised in accordance with the Council's Statement of
Community Involvement and 2 letters of representation have been received, which raise
the following issues:
− Use should be restricted to a sports pitch and pavilion to limit nuisance to
neighbours.
− Hours of operation should be limited so as not to adversely impact on neighbours.
− Development should not overlook new residential development to the east.
− Floodlight pollution should be minimised.
− Watercourse to east floods and this needs investigating prior to permission being
granted.

7

Evaluation

7.1

Principle of Development

7.1.1

Planning law requires that the Local Planning Authority make decisions in accordance with
the local development plan, unless material considerations indicate otherwise. The
Council adopted a new Local Plan in January 2020 covering the period 2011-2036 which
now forms the basis for decision making in South Kesteven. It is noted that the Stamford
Neighbourhood Plan has recently completed it’s regulation 16 consultation and is currently
subject to examination before a referendum. Therefore, only limited weight can be
currently given to the policies in that draft plan.

35

7.1.2

Local Plan policy SD1 sets out the broad principles for achieving sustainable development
in South Kesteven. The policy requires consideration of a number of issues including the
impact of development on climate change, avoiding flood risk, encouraging the use of
previously developed land and meeting current and future housing demand. Further,
Policy SP2 states that development that supports the role of Stamford as a market town
will be allowed, provided it does not compromise its nature and character. It also states
that priority will be given to sustainable sites within the built up part of the town and
appropriate edge of settlement extensions.

7.1.3

Policy SP4 provides further detail on appropriate edge of settlement and states that
proposals will be supported provided that essential criteria a-f are met. These essential
criteria and considered further below:
a. Clear evidence of support from the local community.
A Statement of Community Involvement has been submitted with the application which
demonstrates that there were extensive pre-submission consultations with relevant
stakeholders. That report demonstrates a largely positive response to the proposals and
appropriately addresses concerns that were raised.
b. Well designed and appropriate in size/scale, layout and character to the setting
and area.

7.1.4

The proposed pavilion has been designed to provide the required functional elements for
the proposed use. The building has been designed with a double gabled roof in order to
limit the overall height of the building. The design of the new pavillion is of a high quality,
however it would occupy a relatively large footprint. The site is sensitive in terms of a
gateway to this part of Stamford, which itself is a heritage rich environment. An extensive
landscaping scheme is proposed, which would soften the visual impact of the proposal
and it is recommended that the detail of which is secured by condition.

7.1.5

The applicant has submitted a landscape and visual impact assessment with the
application which does not identify any significant adverse impact from the proposal. The
Council has had this independently assessed and whilst it largely agrees with the
applicant’s findings, it does identify medium adverse impact from the extension of the
sports pitches south. However, it concludes that “on balance, the nature of development
as a continuum of the existing sports facility is reasonable and of an appropriate scale.”
The report also notes that a clear separation between Stamford and Wothorpe is
maintained. The report also states that considerable material weight should be placed on
successful establishment of the mitigating replacement hedgerow to the south of the site.
c. Be adjacent to the existing pattern of development for the area.
The site is adjacent to existing development. The proposed pavilion will be closer to the
road than the existing pavilion, but will be read against the backdrop of existing and further
consented development to the east. Much of the site is already developed and only a
relatively small area of additional greenfield land is proposed to be used to facilitate the
increased provision in sports facilities.
d. Not extend obtrusively into the open countryside and be appropriate to the
landscape, environmental and heritage characteristics of the area.

36

As above, the proposed pitches will extend further into the countryside than the existing
single pitch. However, the associated engineering works to level the site would result in
the pitches being set down into the landscape which would help mitigate any visual
impact, as well as the proposed landscaping. Although the proposed floodlights would
have a visual impact, this needs to be assessed against the context of the existing, dated
floodlights on the site. In particular, the modern design and method of illumination of the
proposed floodlights results in less light spill than those existing. The submitted floodlight
technical document demonstrates how effective the floodlights are at achieving a high
level of luminance on the pitches, but with negligible light spill in the areas to the rear and
above the floodlights.
e. This relates to housing development and is not relevant to this application.
f. This relates to infrastructure associated with housing growth and is not relevant
to this application.
7.1.6

Local Plan Policy SP6 provides further support for community services and facilities. The
policy states that where feasible they should promote walking, cycling and public
transport. The policy also recognises that such facilities can have a wider catchment area
and that their accessibility should be considered proportionately to their scale and
purpose. Policy OS1 provides guidance on the redevelopment of sports pitches and states
this will be acceptable where “the proposal will provide increased or improved open space
and/or recreational facilities”. The positive benefits of having active and healthy places,
including support for sporting and community uses is found the NPPF (section 8).

7.1.7

Emerging Stamford Neighbourhood Plan Policy 14 provides support for new educational
facilities subject to consideration of pedestrians and cyclists, the suitability of the access
and parking arrangements, and no adverse impact on neighbouring properties.

7.1.8

The proposed development would provide a high quality and much needed additional
sports facility for the school and wider community. The school has also provided a
statement, setting out their strategy and policy for making their sports facilities available
for wider community use. The location of the site as an existing site for sports provision is
well related to the school and accessible to other users. Sport England have been
consulted and support the principle of the development, subject to the wider community
use of the facilities being secured through a condition.

7.1.9

The principle of development is therefore considered to be acceptable and in accordance
with Local Plan policies SD1, SP1, SP2, SP4, SP6 and OS1, the NPPF (section 9) and
emerging Stamford Neighbourhood Plan Policy 14. Further consideration of the
environmental and technical merits of the proposal is provided below.

7.2

Impact on the character of the area

7.2.1

Local Plan Policy DE1 states (amongst other criteria) that to ensure high quality design is
achieved throughout the District, all development proposals will be expected to make a
positive contribution to local distinctiveness, vernacular and character of the area.
Proposals should reinforce local identity and not have an adverse impact on the
streetscene, settlement pattern or the landscape / townscape character of the surrounding

37

area. Proposals should be of an appropriate scale, density, massing, height and material,
given the context of the area. Policy EN1 seeks to ensure development is appropriate for
its context. The NPPF (section 12) states that good design is a key aspect of sustainable
development and new development should be visually attractive as a result of good
architecture and appropriate landscaping.
7.2.2

The site is currently occupied by a single synthetic pitch and sports pavilion. The proposal
is to extend and enhance these existing facilities, however the broad character of the site
and surroundings would remain unchanged. The pavilion would be constructed using a
mixture of black timber cladding and Stamford stone cladding with a Welsh slate roof. The
proposed materials are considered appropriate for this context and the final detail of which
would be secured by condition. As above, the high quality design of the sports pavilion,
landscaping scheme and modern floodlighting would ensure that the new facilities remain
appropriate for this context.

7.2.3

The design and access statement states that various building typologies were explored
that would suit the function of a sports pavilion, including analysis of traditional cricket
pavilion forms, a contemporary approach and agricultural barns that are common in the
rural setting. The merits of each helped to inform the proposal, with the predominant
influence coming from the traditional barn which is considered appropriate for this semirural context. These options were explored at the pre-application stage and it is noted the
applicant positively engaged with the Council’s design PAD meeting to help inform these
proposals at an early stage.

7.2.4

In summary, and by virtue of its scale and appearance, the proposal is considered to be in
keeping with the existing sports facility context and surrounding semi-rural character, in
accordance with Local Plan Policies DE1 and EN1 and the NPPF (section 12).

7.3

The Historic Environment

7.3.1

Policy EN6 states amongst other criteria that the Council will seek to protect and enhance
heritage assets and their settings, in keeping with the policies in the National Planning
Policy Framework. In relation to archaeology, the policy states that where development
affecting archaeological sites is acceptable in principle, the Council will seek to ensure
mitigation of impact through preservation of the remains in situ as a preferred solution.
When in situ preservation is not practical, the developer will be required to make adequate
provision for excavation and recording before or during development. The importance of
considering the impact of development on the significance of designated heritage assets is
expressed in the NPPF (section 16). Policy 9 in the emerging Stamford Neighbourhood
Plan seeks to conserve and enhance the significance of designated and non-designated
heritage assets.

7.3.2

A heritage statement has been submitted with the application which concludes that the
proposed development would have a negligible impact on the overarching significance of
the site itself, a negligible impact on the historic boundary marker, the setting and views of
the nearby scheduled monument and listed buildings and on the setting and views of the
Stamford Conservation Area. A historic settlement boundary marker was found within the
site and is proposed to be located to better reveal its significance. The Council’s

38

conservation officer agrees with these conclusions and does not raise any objection or
concern regarding the proposal on heritage grounds.
7.3.3

In terms of the potential for archaeology, both Historic England and Heritage Lincolnshire
have noted the potential for archaeological remains to be found within the site. As such, it
is recommended to include conditions to secure a suitable scheme of archaeological
investigation.

7.3.4

Subject to the above condition, the proposal is considered to protect and enhance the site
and surrounding heritage assets and is in accordance with Local Plan Policy EN6, the
NPPF (section 16) and emerging neighbourhood plan policy 9.

7.4

Residential Amenity

7.4.1

Policy DE1 (Promoting Good Quality Design) of the adopted Local Plan states (amongst
other criteria) that all development proposals will be expected to ensure there is no
adverse impact on the amenity of neighbouring users in terms of noise, light pollution, loss
of privacy and loss of light and provide sufficient private amenity space, suitable to the
type and amount of development proposed. Policy EN4 seeks to reduce pollution,
including both light and noise impacts from development. Paragraph 127 of the NPPF
states that developments should create places that are safe, inclusive and accessible and
which promote health and well-being, with a high standard of amenity for existing and
future users; and where crime and disorder, and the fear of crime, do not undermine the
quality of life or community cohesion and resilience.

7.4.2

The new dwellings approved under S18/1207 are located approximately 40m to the east
of the site. However, there is a degree of existing landscaping and trees that separates the
site and these residential properties. The noise assessment submitted with the application,
demonstrates that this landscape buffer as well as the proposed pavilion would act as an
effective buffer for any noise from the pitches to these residential properties. Likewise, as
above, the new floodlighting would result in minimal light spill and would not adversely
impact on the amenity of any neighbouring property occupiers.

7.4.3

The Council’s Environmental Protection service have been consulted and do not object to
the proposed development, subject to conditions securing the proposed floodlight
specification and noise mitigation measures. Conditions limiting the hours of operation of
the proposed facilities are considered reasonable and necessary.

7.4.4

Concerns regarding the use of the pavilion are noted and the main use of the pavilion is
secured by condition. Other uses that are ancillary to the primary would be allowed, and
limitations and controls relating to the sale of alcohol would be controlled through licensing
legislation.

7.4.5

Taking into account the scale and nature of the proposal, and the current authorised use
of the site, there is not considered to be an unacceptable adverse impact on any
residential amenity. The proposal is considered to comply with Local Plan Policies DE1
and EN4 and the NPPF (section 12).

39

7.5

Highway and transport infrastructure

7.5.1

Local Plan Policy ID2 seeks to minimise the use of travel by car and maximise sustainable
transport modes. The policy also requires development proposals not to result in any
unacceptable highway safety impacts or result in severe cumulative traffic impacts. The
NPPF (section 9) states development should only be prevented or refused on highways
grounds if there would be an unacceptable impact on highway safety, or the residual
cumulative impacts on the road network would be severe.
A transport note has been submitted with the application which concludes that the
proposal result in a betterment in terms of pedestrian and vehicle facilities. These include:

7.5.2

• Formalised access with kerb radii & minimum access width of 4.8m;
• Turning areas to allow vehicles to enter, turn and egress in a forward gear;
• Provision of a disabled parking space;
• Provision of a service vehicle bay;
• Junction visibility splays in accordance with MFS principals;
• Gated access set back into the site, to allow vehicle to park clear of the public highway.
• Provision of guard railing on the southern side of Kettering Road at the Puffin Crossing,
where non is provided;
• Extension of existing guard rail up to SES vehicular access;
• New tactile paving at the SES vehicular access;
• Widened footpath from 1.8m to 3m on southern side of Kettering Road (removal of
hedgerow); and
• Widened footpath from 1.3m to 2m into the site.
7.5.3

Lincolnshire County Council (as local highway authority) have noted the proposals would
not materially change the traffic impact or highway operation of the site from existing uses.
Parking provision would remain off-site as currently and the school would advise users of
its location, pedestrians crossing between the site and the school would continue to be
able to use the signalised crossing. The access to the pavilion would be modified and
occasional service vans would use this access, there is appropriate turning and parking
proposed for this. Cycle parking is also proposed and the proposal is therefore
acceptable with regards to highway impact and encouraging walking and cycling.

7.5.4

In terms of the construction phase, LCC have further commented that the construction of
the proposals with the demolition of the existing facilities would require an improved
temporary access and possible temporary closure of the signal crossing whilst works are
undertaken. This has not been assessed, swept paths for construction vehicles, operation
and parking would need to be considered. A condition for the Construction Management
Plan is therefore required to ensure that the construction of the proposals can be
undertaken safely.

7.5.5

Any reduction in speed limit along Kettering Road would be subject to consideration by
LCC (as local highway authority) and would need to be secured through a separate traffic
regulation order. There is no stated requirement from the local highway authority for a
speed limit reduction as a result of these proposals.

40

7.5.6

Neither LCC Highways nor Highways England have any objections to the scheme with the
proposal which is therefore considered to comply with Policy ID2 and Section 9 of the
NPPF.

7.6

Flood Risk and drainage

7.6.1

Local Plan Policy EN5 and the NPPF (section 14) require development to be located in the
lowest areas of flood risk and not to increase the risk of flooding elsewhere. The applicant
has submitted a Flood Risk Assessment, which confirms the site is within flood zone 1 (at
the lowest risk of fluvial flooding), although there is some evidence of minor surface water
flooding associated with the boundary ditches. The FRA states that the redevelopment of
the pavilion and installation of a new surface water management scheme for the site
would reduce surface water flow from the wastewater network. LCC (as lead local flood
authority) have agreed that this would lead to an improvement on the existing drainage
conditions for the site.

7.6.2

Both LCC (as lead local flood authority) and Anglian Water have both requested a
condition to secure the detail of the surface water drainage scheme. Subject to
satisfactory details through that condition the proposal is considered to comply with Local
Plan Policy EN5 and the NPPF (section 14).

7.7

Ecology and biodiversity

7.7.1

Local Plan Policy EN2 seeks to ensure the conservation and enhancement of ecological
networks and deliver a net gain in biodiversity for all development proposals. Further
guidance relating to the conservation of the natural environment and protecting habitats is
found in the NPPF (section 15).

7.7.2

The hedgerow along the southern boundary of the existing site is to be removed to
facilitate the extension of the site into the adjacent field to the south. Additionally, some
hedgerow along the northern boundary at the access point would be removed to improve
the access to the site. Within the site, the pavilion will be located in the position of around
20 tress and associated groups of trees and scrub. However, in mitigation, the
development proposes a new 3m wide native hedgerow and trees along the new route of
the southern boundary, existing hedgerows around the site will be retained and managed,
and the land to the east of the new pavilion will be planted as a landscape margin, tying
into the existing retained trees.

7.7.3

An ecological appraisal was submitted with the application to provide a baseline
understanding of the ecological constraints and opportunities within the site. An
arboricultural impact assessment has also been submitted which provides an assessment
of the trees with the site, including both those to be removed and retained. The initial
surveys found the following ecological constraints to development:
− The use of the southern hedgerow boundary by bats;
− ‘low’ bat roost potential at the existing pavilion and an existing Ash tree;
− The existing hedgerow to be removed has the potential to support breeding birds.

41

7.7.4

As a result, further survey work and mitigation measures are proposed. The required
further survey work and recommendations would safeguard the existing ecological
networks and habitats within the site and provide opportunities for biodiversity net gain. A
condition requiring details of such a scheme and further survey work is recommended.
Subject to submission of satisfactory details in this respect, the proposal would be in
accordance with Local Plan Policy EN2 and the NPPF (section 15).

7.7.5

It is further noted that the developer would still have a legal obligation under the
Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations (The Habitats Regulations 2017) that
deals with internationally important sites and species, and the Wildlife and Countryside Act
(WCA) 1981 that deals with nationally important sites and species regardless of the grant
of planning permission. As noted in the submitted ecological appraisal, this could result in
the need for protected species licenses during the demolition phase of the development.

7.8

Sustainability

7.8.1

Local Plan Policy SB1 seeks to address climate change by requiring development to use
sustainable building practices. The submitted design and access statement demonstrates
that the development will be built to a high standard, using sustainable building practices.

7.8.2

The applicant states that the design of the building and its associated mechanical and
electrical engineering services would be undertaken utilising thermal modelling software
which considers building orientation, glazing detail/areas, construction details, shading
and the proposed environmental systems. The aim for this development is that the
Building CO2 emission rate will be less than the Target (Notional Building) emission rate.

7.8.3

Some of the systems and features adopted to achieve this reduction are detailed as
follows:
•
•
•

•
•

•
•
•
•
•

Efficient thermal fabric of construction elements
High standard of air tightness
Efficient building services:
− High efficacy lighting with absence detection and daylight dimming controls
− Where mechanical ventilation is required these systems will incorporate heat
recovery
Effective Building Energy Management System to control the systems, including sub
metering and energy monitoring
Reducing the demand for mechanical cooling and mitigate the risk of overheating by:
− Reducing heat gains through the use of energy efficient lighting, high specification
glazing
− Provision of openable windows and rooflights to provide natural ventilation within
occupied spaces
− Provision of Mechanical Ventilation Heat Recovery systems where required to
occupied spaces
Use of air source heat pumps to provide space heating and cooling to activity areas
Use of a hybrid, (natural gas/solar), hot water heater to provide domestic hot water
Use of variable speed circulating pumps
Use of PIR operated taps complete with flow restrictors, and low flush wc’s
Inclusion of cycle parking

42

7.8.4

Subject to these details being secured by condition, the development would be in
accordance with local plan policy SB1.

8

Crime and Disorder

8.1

It is considered that the proposal would not result in any significant crime and disorder
implications.

9

Human Rights Implications

9.1.1

Articles 6 (Rights to fair decision making) and Article 8 (Right to private family life and
home) of the Human Rights Act have been taken into account in making this
recommendation. It is considered that no relevant Article of that act will be breached.

10

Conclusion and Planning Balance

10.1

The proposed development would provide a high quality and much needed additional
sports facility for the school. The location of the site as an existing site for sports provision
is well related to the school. The proposal, subject to appropriate mitigation, would not
result in any significant adverse impacts and is considered to represent a sustainable form
of development.

10.2

The proposal is in accordance with Local Plan Policies SP1, SP2, SP4, SP6, EN1, EN2,
EN4, EN5, EN6, DE1, OS1 and ID2, the emerging Stamford Neighbourhood Plan and the
NPPF (sections 8, 9, 12, 15 and 16) and there are no material considerations that indicate
otherwise, as such the proposal is recommended for approval, subject to conditions.
RECOMMENDATION: that the development is Approved subject to the following
conditions:
Time Limit for Commencement
1

The development hereby permitted shall be commenced before the expiration of
three years from the date of this permission.
Reason: In order that the development is commenced in a timely manner, as set out
in Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended).

Approved Plans
2

i.
ii.
iii.
iv.

The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the
following list of approved plans:
Location Plan drawing no. 240011-PUR-00-XX-DR-A-1000
Proposed Block Plan drawing no. 240011-PUR-00-XX-DR-A-2000
Proposed Ground Floor Plan drawing no. 240011-PUR-00-XX-DR-A-2010
Proposed Roof plan drawing no. 240011-PUR-00-XX-DR-A-2011

43

v.
vi.

Proposed Elevations drawing no. 240011-PUR-00-XX-DR-A-2020
Proposed AGP plans drawing nos. SES-SSL-XX-ZZ-DR-A-01/ 02/ 03
Unless otherwise required by another condition of this permission.
Reason: To define the permission and for the avoidance of doubt.

Before development is commenced
3

•
•
•
•
•
•
•

No development shall take place until a Construction Management Plan and Method
Statement has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority which shall indicate measures to mitigate against traffic generation and
drainage of the site during the construction stage of the proposed development.
The Construction Management Plan and Method Statement shall include:
phasing of the development to include access construction;
the parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors;
loading and unloading of plant and materials;
storage of plant and materials used in constructing the development;
wheel washing facilities;
the routes of construction traffic to and from the site including any off site routes for the
disposal of excavated material and;
strategy stating how surface water run off on and from the development will be
managed during construction and protection measures for any sustainable drainage
features. This should include drawing(s) showing how the drainage systems
(permanent or temporary) connect to an outfall (temporary or permanent) during
construction.
The Construction Management Plan and Method Statement shall be strictly adhered
to throughout the construction period.
Reason: To ensure that the permitted development is adequately drained without
creating or increasing flood risk to land or property adjacent to, or downstream of,
the permitted development during construction and to ensure that suitable traffic
routes are agreed.

4

The permitted development shall be undertaken in accordance with a surface water
drainage scheme which shall first have been approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority.
The scheme shall:

•

be based on sustainable drainage principles and an assessment of the hydrological
and hydrogeological context of the development;

•

provide details of how run-off will be safely conveyed and attenuated during storms up
to and including the 1 in 100 year critical storm event, with an allowance for climate
change, from all hard surfaced areas within the development into the existing local
drainage infrastructure and watercourse system without exceeding the run-off rate for
the undeveloped site;

44

•

provide attenuation details and discharge rates which shall be restricted to 14 litres per
second;

•

provide details of the timetable for and any phasing of implementation for the drainage
scheme; and

•

provide details of how the scheme shall be maintained and managed over the lifetime
of the development, including any arrangements for adoption by any public body or
Statutory Undertaker and any other arrangements required to secure the operation of
the drainage system throughout its lifetime.
The development must not be brought into use until the approved scheme has been
completed or provided on the site in accordance with the approved phasing. The
approved scheme shall be retained and maintained in full, in accordance with the
approved details.
Reason: To ensure that the permitted development is adequately drained without
creating or increasing flood risk to land or property adjacent to, or downstream of, the
permitted development.

5

Before development is commenced, the application shall include details demonstrating
how the proposed scheme would comply with the requirements of Local Plan Policy
SB1. The scheme shall include details of how carbon dioxide emissions would be
minimised through the design and construction of the buildings; and details of water
efficiency.
The approved sustainable building measures shall be completed in full, in accordance
with the agreed scheme, prior to the first use of the development hereby permitted.
Reason: To ensure the development mitigates and adapts against climate change in
accordance with Local Plan Policy SB1.

6

Before the development hereby permitted is commenced, a written scheme of
archaeological investigation shall have been submitted to and approved in writing by
the Local Planning Authority. The archaeological investigations shall also have been
completed in accordance with the approved details and a report submitted to the Local
Planning Authority for approval before development commences.
Reason: In order to provide a reasonable opportunity to record the history of the site
and in accordance with Policy EN6 of the adopted South Kesteven Local Plan and
Paragraph 199 of the NPPF.

7

Before any development is commenced, a scheme for biodiversity mitigation and
enhancement must have been submitted to and agreed in writing by the local planning
authority. The scheme shall include any recommendations following the further surveys
recommended by the BJ Collins ecological constraints report April 2021 which must be
first completed:
- bats (roosting and foraging/commuting)
- breeding birds

45

The scheme shall include a plan identifying the location of any mitigation and
enhancement measures, along with a detailed schedule (and technical details as
relevant) for each of the measures proposed. The required biodiversity mitigation and
enhancement measures shall be completed in full, in accordance with the agreed
scheme.
Reason: This condition is necessary in order to ensure that the proposal does not have
an unacceptable impact on biodiversity and protected species.
8

i.
ii.
iii.
iv.

Before the development hereby permitted is commenced, all existing trees shown on
the approved plan to be retained shall have been fenced off to the limit of their branch
spread in accordance with BS 5837. No works including:
removal of earth,
storage of materials,
vehicular movements or
siting of temporary buildings
shall be permitted within these protected areas.
Reason: To prevent unnecessary damage to existing trees and in accordance with
Local Plan Policy DE1.

9

i.
ii.
iii.
iv.

Before the development hereby permitted is commenced, details of hard landscaping
works shall have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. Details shall include:
proposed finished levels and contours;
means of enclosure;
other vehicle and pedestrian access and circulation areas;
hard surfacing materials.

Reason: Hard landscaping makes an important contribution to the development and its
assimilation with its surroundings and in accordance with Policy DE1 of the adopted South
Kesteven Local Plan.
During construction
10

Before any construction work above ground is commenced, details of any soft
landscaping works shall have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority. Details shall include:
i.
ii.
iii.

planting plans;
written specifications (including cultivation and other operations associated
with plant and grass establishment);
schedules of plants, noting species, plant sizes and proposed
numbers/densities where appropriate

46

Reason: Soft landscaping and tree planting make an important contribution to the
development and its assimilation with its surroundings and in accordance with
Policies DE1, EN3 and OS1 of the adopted South Kesteven Local Plan.
11

Before any of the works on the external elevations for the building(s) hereby
permitted are begun, details of the materials (including colour of any render,
paintwork or colourwash) to be used in the construction of the external surfaces shall
have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory appearance to the development and in accordance
with Policy DE1 of the adopted South Kesteven Local Plan.
Before the development in brought into use

12

Before any part of the development hereby permitted is brought into use, the
external surfaces shall have been completed in accordance with the approved
details.
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory appearance to the development and in accordance
with Policy DE1 of the adopted South Kesteven Local Plan.

13

Before the end of the first planting/seeding season following the first use of any part
of the development hereby permitted, all soft landscape works shall have been
carried out in accordance with the approved soft landscaping details.
Reason: Soft landscaping and tree planting make an important contribution to the
development and its assimilation with its surroundings and in accordance with
Policies DE1, EN3 and OS1 of the adopted South Kesteven Local Plan.

14

Before any part of the development hereby permitted is brought into use, all hard
landscape works shall have been carried out in accordance with the approved hard
landscaping details.
Reason: Hard landscaping makes an important contribution to the development and
its assimilation with its surroundings and in accordance with Policy DE1 of the
adopted South Kesteven Local Plan.

Ongoing conditions
15

The floodlighting hereby permitted shall be maintained and operated in accordance
with the approved floodlighting details in perpetuity and not operated beyond 9pm on
any day of the week.
Unless otherwise agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: In the interests of the amenities of the area and in accordance with Policies
EN4 and DE1 of the adopted South Kesteven Local Plan.

47

16

Within a period of five years from the first use of the development hereby permitted,
any trees or plants provided as part of the approved soft landscaping scheme, that
die or become, in the opinion of the Local Planning Authority, seriously damaged or
defective, shall be replaced in the first planting season following any such loss with a
specimen of the same size and species as was approved in condition above unless
otherwise agreed by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: To ensure the provision, establishment and maintenance of a reasonable
standard of landscape in accordance with the approved designs and in accordance
with Policies DE1, EN3 and OS1 of the adopted South Kesteven Local Plan.

Standard Note(s) to Applicant:
•

In reaching the decision the Council has worked with the applicant in a positive and
proactive manner by determining the application without undue delay. As such it is
considered that the decision is in accordance with paras 38 of the National Planning
Policy Framework.

•

The permitted development requires the formation of a new/amended vehicular
access. These works will require approval from the Highway Authority in accordance
with Section 184 of the Highways Act. The works should be constructed in accordance
with the Authority's specification that is current at the time of construction. Relocation
of existing apparatus, underground services or street furniture will be the responsibility
of the applicant, prior to application. For approval and specification details, please
contact vehiclecrossings@lincolnshire.gov.uk

•

Notification of intention to connect to the public sewer under S106 of the Water
Industry Act Approval and consent will be required by Anglian Water, under the Water
Industry Act 1991. Contact Development Services Team 0345 606 6087

•

Notification of intention to connect to the public sewer under S106 of the Water
Industry Act Approval and consent will be required by Anglian Water, under the Water
Industry Act 1991. Contact Development Services Team 0345606 6087

•

Protection of existing assets - A public sewer is shown on record plans within the land
identified for the proposed development. It appears that development proposals will
affect existing public sewers. It is recommended that the applicant contacts Anglian
Water Development Services Team for further advice on this matter. Building over
existing public sewers will not be permitted (without agreement) from Anglian Water.

•

Building near to a public sewer - No building will be permitted within the statutory
easement width of 3 metres from the pipeline without agreement from Anglian Water.
Please contact Development Services Team on 0345 606 6087

•

The developer should note that the site drainage details submitted have not been
approved for the purposes of adoption. If the developer wishes to have the sewers
included in a sewer adoption agreement with Anglian Water (under Sections 104 of the
Water Industry Act 1991), they should contact our Development Services Team on
0345 606 6087 at the earliest opportunity. Sewers intended for adoption should be
designed and constructed in accordance with Sewers for Adoption guide for
developers, as supplemented by Anglian Water’s requirements.

48

Proposed block plan

Proposed Elevations

49

Financial Implications reviewed by: Not applicable
Legal Implications reviewed by: Not applicable

50

Agenda Item 6
Planning Committee
3 June 2021

S20/0908
Proposal:
Location:
Applicant:
Agent:
Application Type:
Reason for Referral to
Committee:
Key Issues:

Technical Documents:

Erection of 3 detached houses
Land Off Kettering Road, Stamford, Lincolnshire, PE9 2JS
Simon Boon Homes Ltd, Shiremoor Mill Lane, Cotterstock, Peterborough
Mr S Machen, Barmach Ltd, 22 Charlotte Way, Peterborough,
PE3 9ES
Full Planning Permission
S106 financial contribution
Principle of development
Impact on the character of the area and the setting of heritage assets
Impact on residential amenity
Highway issues
Ecology
Drainage
Design & Access Statement
Heritage Statement
Mineral Assessment

Report Author
Phil Jordan, Principal Planning Officer
01476 406074
p.jordan@southkesteven.gov.uk

Corporate Priority:

Decision type:

Wards:

Growth

Regulatory

Stamford St Mary's

Reviewed by:

Phil Moore – Special Projects Manager

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s)
That the application be approved conditionally

51

17 May 2021

S20/0908 Land Off Kettering Road, Stamford, Lincolnshire, PE9 2JS

52

1

Description of Site

1.1

The application site is approximately 0.4 hectares in size and is located on the edge of the
built-up area of Stamford where there is a transition between the tightly-knit urban
character of the town and the surrounding rural landscape. The site is located outside of
the Stamford Conservation Area but is close to its boundary.

1.2

The application site comprises the front part of a single grass field bounded by trees and
hedgerows which is located on the southern side of Kettering Road. The land slopes up to
the south away from the road, towards the village of Wothorpe. Two public footpaths run
diagonally through the site from the north-east off Kettering Road to the south-west.

1.3

To the west of the site is a residential development under construction that was granted
permission under planning application S18/1207. To the east of the site are the rear
gardens of the dwellings along Pinfold Lane. To the south of the application site is the
adjacent settlement of Wothorpe, which is in the Peterborough City Council administrative
boundary. Opposite the site on the northern side of Kettering Road is the recently
completed residential development known as Cecil Square.

1.4

There are numerous heritage assets to the east of the site including the grade II* listed
Burghley House and associated grade II* registered park and garden, grade II Burghley
Lodges and gates which form the principal entrance to the historic park and garden and
numerous grade II and grade II* listed buildings along the Old Great North Road.

2

The Proposal

2.1

This is a full application for a residential development comprising 3 detached dwellings
together with access and car parking. The properties would be large, detached family
homes with generous living and amenity space. The site would be served by a new, single
private drive from Kettering Road. The proposed layout shows existing trees and
hedgerows to be retained.

2.2

The dwellings would be constructed from natural stone and slate, with timber sash
windows, and all have elements of both vernacular and Georgian architecture which is
inspired by reference to historic properties located within and around Stamford. The
scheme has been designed to complement the adjacent site to the west, granted
permission under planning application S18/1207 (which is in the same ownership).

3

Background

3.1

The application site, together with the adjacent field have been subject of two previous
planning applications for residential development by Kier Homes. The first of these
applications (S13/3322) was for 48 dwellings and was refused by the Council in May 2014
and subsequently dismissed at appeal. The appeal was dismissed on the grounds that,
notwithstanding the site's allocation in the Local Plan, the design and layout would be out
of character with the area and harmful to the setting of numerous heritage assets. The
inspector did not consider that the harm was outweighed by the public benefits of that
particular scheme.

53

3.2

The second application (S14/3078) was for 39 dwellings, later amended to 29 and was
also refused by the Council in February 2017 but was allowed at appeal in March 2018.
The inspector considered that the lower density, improved design and better landscaping
were sufficient to mitigate any harmful impact and that this time the limited degree of harm
was outweighed by the public benefits of the scheme. Following the appeal decision for
S14/3078, Kier Homes made an application to divert the public footpaths crossing the site,
to enable the development to proceed. This application was later withdrawn.

3.3

Land to the west of the site was granted permission by S18/1207 for five dwellings which
is in the same ownership (Simon Boon Homes) as the current application site. Planning
permission was recently granted on the current site for the erection of 3 detached, 2 semidetached and 3 terraced dwellings with site access, car parking and turning areas
following an appeal against the Council’s decision to refuse application S19/1519 (appeal
ref: APP/E2530/W/20/3251520). For the avoidance of doubt, the current application is a
new application on the same site as the scheme granted permission by appeal and not an
additional 3 dwellings. i.e. if permission were granted only one of the developments could
be implemented.

4

Relevant History
Reference

Proposal

Decision

Date

S13/3322

Residential development comprising 48 houses and
associated parking spaces and garages together with
access road and turning areas, open space and
landscaping, foul water pumping station, surface water
balancing pond and open space

Refused

30/05/2014

S14/3078

Residential development comprising 29 houses and
associated parking spaces and garages together with
access road and turning areas, open space and
landscaping, foul water pumping station, surface water
balancing pond and open space

Refused –
allowed at
appeal

09/02/2017

S18/1207

Erection of 5 detached houses

Approved
18/07/2019
Conditionally

S19/1519

Erection of 3 detached, 2 semi-detached and 3
terraced dwellings with site access, car parking and
turning areas

Appeal
allowed with
conditions

5

Policy Considerations

5.1

SKDC Local Plan 2011 - 2036
Policy SD1 - The Principles of Sustainable Development in South Kesteven
Policy SP1 - Spatial Strategy
Policy SP2 - Settlement Hierarchy
Policy SP3 – Infill Development
Policy H2 - Affordable Housing Contributions
Policy H4 - Meeting All Housing Needs
Policy EN1 - Landscape Character

54

09/03/2021

Policy EN2 - Protecting Biodiversity and Geodiversity
Policy EN3 - Green Infrastructure
Policy EN5 - Water Environment and Flood Risk Management
Policy EN6 - The Historic Environment
Policy ID2 - Transport and Strategic Transport Infrastructure
5.2

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)
Section 5 - Delivering a sufficient supply of homes
Section 9 - Promoting sustainable transport
Section 12 - Achieving well-designed places
Section 14 - Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change
Section 16 - Conserving and enhancing the historic environment

5.3

Draft Stamford Neighbourhood Plan

6

Representations Received

6.1
6.1.1

Stamford Town Council
No objection, subject to any affordable housing contribution being allocated and spent in
Stamford. Neighbouring properties amenities should also be respected.

6.2
6.2.1

LCC Highways & SuDS Support
Having given due regard to the appropriate local and national planning policy guidance (in
particular the National Planning Policy Framework), Lincolnshire County Council (as
Highway Authority and Lead Local Flood Authority) has concluded that the proposed
development would not be expected to have an unacceptable impact upon highway safety
or a severe residual cumulative impact upon the highway network. Accordingly, the
Authority does not wish to object to this planning application.

6.3
6.3.1

Lincolnshire County Council - Footpaths Officers
Kettering Public Footpath Nos. 14 and 15 are affected by the proposed development.
i/

ii/
iii/

iv/

It is expected that there will be no encroachment, either permanent or temporary,
onto the right of way as a result of the development. Please note that Stamford PF
14 follows a different route on the ground from the alignment indicated on the
Definitive Map. The legal alignment passes through the proposed buildings in Plot C
and the footpath will either require diverting or the plot amending to address this
alignment issue.
The proposed development should not pose any dangers or inconvenience to the
public using the right of way.
The affected sections of PF 14 and PF 15 should be retained to a width of 2m
through the development site and surfaced with a suitable material – specification to
be agreed with Lincolnshire County Council.
If any existing gate or stile is to be modified or if a new gate or stile is proposed on
the line of the public rights of way, prior permission to modify or erect such a feature
must be sought from the County Council.

55

6.4
6.4.1

Minerals and Waste Planning (LCC)
Lincolnshire County Council raise no mineral safeguarding objections.

6.5
6.5.1

Heritage Lincolnshire
The site offers potential for archaeological remains. Insufficient information is available
from previous investigations and therefore a scheme of archaeological investigation is
recommended to be secured by condition.

6.6
6.6.1

Peterborough City Council
Object on the basis that the harm to designated heritage assets is not outweighed by the
public benefits of the scheme.

6.7
6.7.1

Historic England
No comments to make - suggest seeking the views of specialist conservation and
archaeological advisers, as relevant.

6.8
6.8.1

Wothorpe Parish Council
Object for the following reasons:
1. site not allocated in emerging Local Plan
2. harm to heritage assets including setting of Stamford not outweighed by public benefits
3. highway safety

6.9
6.9.1

Barnack Parish Council
Object for the following reasons:
1. site not allocated in emerging Local Plan
2. harm to heritage assets
3. harm to the character of the area

6.10
Garden’s Trust
6.10.1 No comments to make.

7

Representations as a Result of Publicity

7.1

This application has been advertised in accordance with the Council's Statement of
Community Involvement and 12 letters of representation have been received. The points
raised can be summarised as follows:
1. site not allocated in SKDC Local Plan
2. site not allocated in draft Stamford Neighbourhood Plan
3. harm to heritage assets including setting of Stamford
4. limited public benefits from 3 market houses
5. harm to visual amenity value of footpaths
6. increased traffic
7. highway safety
8. harm to biodiversity
9. lack of consultation

56

10. lack of infrastructure to support new development
11. Additional housing not needed
12. no public support for the development
7.2

In response to point 9, a site notice was displayed to the front of the site, the application
was advertised in the Stamford Mercury and neighbouring properties were sent letters of
notification regarding the application.

8

Evaluation

8.1

Principle of Development

8.1.1

Planning law requires that the Local Planning Authority make decisions in accordance with
the local development plan, unless material considerations indicate otherwise. The
Council adopted a new Local Plan in January 2020 covering the period 2011-2036 which
now forms the basis for decision making in South Kesteven. It is noted that the Stamford
Neighbourhood Plan has recently completed it’s regulation 16 consultation and is currently
subject to examination before a referendum. Therefore, only limited weight can be
currently given to the policies in that draft plan.

8.1.2

Local Plan policy SD1 sets out the broad principles for achieving sustainable development
in South Kesteven. The policy requires consideration of a number of issues including the
impact of development on climate change, avoiding flood risk, encouraging the use of
previously developed land and meeting current and future housing demand. Further,
Policy SP2 states that development that supports the role of Stamford as a market town
will be allowed, provided it does not compromise its nature and character. It also states
that priority will be given to sustainable sites within the built up part of the town and does
not preclude the use of greenfield land nor sites that are not allocated in the plan.

8.1.3

Policy SP3 allows infill development subject to meeting several criteria that relate to the
spatial characteristics of the site, impact on the character of the area and consideration of
neighbouring amenity. The location of the site is within a substantially built up frontage and
within the built-up part of Stamford which is a sustainable location and a focus for growth.
The proposal would also not extend the settlement any further than the adjacent
residential properties to the east and those under construction to the west and would be
linked to the main town with improved pedestrian connections.

8.1.4

Policy 2 in the draft Stamford Neighbourhood Plan, provides further detail for the
consideration of additional residential development, however is afforded limited weight due
to it being subject to on-going examination.

8.1.5

The National Planning Policy Framework (section 5) provides further support for the
delivery of new homes. This section provides support for both allocated sites and windfall
sites. In particular, paragraph 68 states that small and medium sized sites can make an
important contribution to meeting the housing requirement of an area, and are often builtout relatively quickly.

57

8.1.6

A significant material consideration in terms of principle is the permission ref: S19/1519 for
8 dwellings on the site which was recently allowed following an appeal and it therefore
represents a fall-back position for the development of the site.

8.1.7

The principle of residential development for this site is supported by Local Plan policies
SP2 and SP3 and has been established through permission ref: S19/1519. Further
environmental and technical considerations are discussed below.

8.2

Impact on the Character of the Area and the Setting of Heritage Assets

8.2.1

Local Plan Policy DE1 states (amongst other criteria) that to ensure high quality design is
achieved throughout the District, all development proposals will be expected to make a
positive contribution to local distinctiveness, vernacular and character of the area.
Proposals should reinforce local identity and not have an adverse impact on the
streetscene, settlement pattern or the landscape / townscape character of the surrounding
area. Proposals should be of an appropriate scale, density, massing, height and material,
given the context of the area. Policy EN1 seeks to ensure development is appropriate for
its context. The NPPF (section 12) states that good design is a key aspect of sustainable
development and new development should be visually attractive as a result of good
architecture and appropriate landscaping.

8.2.2

Policy EN6 states amongst other criteria that the Council will seek to protect and enhance
heritage assets and their settings, in keeping with the policies in the National Planning
Policy Framework. The importance of considering the impact of development on the
significance of designated heritage assets is expressed in the NPPF (section 16). The
NPPF advises that development and alterations to designated assets and their settings
can cause harm. In relation to proposals affecting designated heritage assets, paragraph
193 of the NPPF provides that when considering the impact of a proposed development
on the significance of a designated heritage asset, great weight should be given to the
asset's conservation.

8.2.3

Policy 9 in the draft Stamford Neighbourhood Plan, provides further detail for the
consideration of the historic environment, however is afforded limited weight due to it
being subject to on-going examination.

8.2.4

Paragraph 195 of the NPPF provides that: 'Where a proposed development will lead to
substantial harm to (or total loss of significance of) a designated heritage asset, local
planning authorities should refuse consent, unless it can be demonstrated that the
substantial harm or loss is necessary to achieve substantial public benefits that outweigh
that harm or loss.'

8.2.5

However, paragraph 196 of the NPPF provides that: 'Where a development proposal will
lead to less than substantial harm to the significance of a designated heritage asset, this
harm should be weighed against the public benefits of the proposal including, where
appropriate, securing its optimum viable use.'

8.2.6

With regard to the impact of the development on the setting of any listed buildings, there is
a duty under Section 66 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act

58

1990 that requires the Local Planning Authority to have special regard to the desirability of
preserving listed buildings and their setting. Case law has established that considerable
importance and weight should be attached to this legislative duty in the decision making
process.
8.2.7

In relation to proposals affecting designated heritage assets, paragraph 193 of the NPPF
provides that when considering the impact of a proposed development on the significance
of a designated heritage asset, great weight should be given to the asset's conservation.

8.2.8

Development of this site has the potential to affect the settings of the following heritage
assets:
i.
ii.
iii.
iv.
v.

8.2.9

Stamford Conservation Area and the listed buildings which make up the skyline
within it including various grade I listed churches;
Grade II listed Fryer's Callis Almshouses;
Grade I listed Burghley House and its Grade II* Registered Park and Gardens;
Grade II listed Burghley House Bottle Lodges;
Wothorpe Special Character Area (undesignated heritage asset) and grade II listed
The Elms within it.

Previous appeal decisions have concluded that development of the site would result in
‘less than substantial’ harm, but at the lower end of ‘less than substantial’. In other words,
a very low degree of harm to the rural setting of the heritage assets mentioned above. The
current proposal involves development of only the front part of the eastern half of the land
that was previously allocated and is a much less intensive form of development with three
large dwellings sat in large plots proposed, similar to those found in the surrounding
context.

8.2.10 This part of the site is sensitive in terms of the views from First Drift, Wothorpe and forms
part of the setting to Stamford. Views towards the Bottle Lodges from within the site are
also sensitive and would be preserved through the submitted layout. Users of the public
rights of way which cross the site would inevitably experience a change of character
through the site itself. However, this is a relatively short section and the overall experience
of this footpath would not change significantly. It is noted that the legal alignment of the
public right of way passes through the proposed buildings in Plot C and the footpath would
require diverting should planning permission be granted.
8.2.11 The scheme has been designed to complement the adjacent development granted
permission by S18/1207. The scale and setback of the proposed dwellings along Kettering
Road is appropriate, would help to maintain a sense of local distinctiveness, and to some
extent would help to lessen the impact of the 3 storey townhouses opposite. The dwellings
are well designed and appropriate in terms of scale and appearance for this context.
8.2.12 The existing trees and hedges that bound the site are considered to be an important
feature and contribute positively to the character of the area. Some enhanced planting and
landscaping to the front and rear of the site would also help to mitigate the impact of the
development from views from the south and along Kettering Road and further details in
this respect can also be secured by condition.

59

8.2.13 The less intensive nature of the proposal, from that allowed by appeal under S19/1519,
would result in less impact and therefore less harm to the setting of heritage assets than
the approved scheme. The approved scheme was deemed in the appeal decision to result
in harm that would be at the lower end of less than substantial, therefore any harm from
the current scheme is considered to be very low. The applicant has submitted a Heritage
Statement to accompany the application which reaches the same conclusion.
8.2.14 Local Plan policy EN6 requires any harm to designated heritage assets to be weighed
against the benefits of the scheme, which are considered further below.
8.3

Affordable Housing

8.3.1

Local Plan Policy H2 (read in conjunction with the National Planning Policy Framework)
requires developments of 10 or more dwellings or a site area of >0.5ha to provide 30%
affordable housing. As the site has been developed in two phases the Council is required
to consider the cumulative impacts of both this site and the adjacent site granted
permission by S18/1207, despite the application site being below the 0.5ha and 10
dwelling threshold. As a commuted sum for affordable housing has already been secured
from the approved scheme S18/1207, the requirements for this site have been considered
on a proportionate basis to the quantum of development proposed.

8.3.2

In this case, the required 30% affordable housing for the scheme would be one dwelling
for the purposes of calculating an off-site commuted sum. The commuted sum would be
calculated using current market figures and would be used towards the provision of an
affordable 'Extra Care' housing development in Stamford as per the granted permission.

8.3.3

Taking the above into account, and subject to formal agreement of the off-site contribution
the proposal would accord with Local Plan Policy H2.

8.4

Impact on Residential Amenity

8.4.1

Local Plan Policy DE1 states (amongst other criteria) that all development proposals will
be expected to ensure there is no adverse impact on the amenity of neighbouring users.
Paragraph 127 of the NPPF states that developments should create places that are safe,
inclusive and accessible and which promote health and well-being, with a high standard of
amenity for existing and future users; and where crime and disorder, and the fear of crime,
do not undermine the quality of life or community cohesion and resilience.

8.4.2

The closest of the proposed dwellings to any neighbouring property would be plot A, with
the side elevation of the dwelling 7m from the neighbouring boundaries which have west
facing rear gardens of 25m - 30m. The scheme has been designed to complement the
adjacent development to the west and would provide a high standard of amenity to future
occupiers of this development.

8.4.3

Taking into account the scale and nature of the proposal, and adequate separation
distances from the nearest properties, there would be no unacceptable adverse impact on

60

the residential amenities of future occupiers or the occupiers of adjacent properties in
accordance with the Local Plan Policy DE1 and the NPPF (section 12).
8.5

Highway Issues

8.5.1

Local Plan Policy ID2 seeks to minimise the use of travel by car and maximise sustainable
transport modes. The policy also requires development proposals not to result in any
unacceptable highway safety impacts or result in severe cumulative traffic impacts. The
NPPF (section 9) states development should only be prevented or refused on highways
grounds if there would be an unacceptable impact on highway safety, or the residual
cumulative impacts on the road network would be severe.

8.5.2

The application proposes a new access of Kettering Road and generous off-street parking,
garaging and turning areas for dwelling. A refuse collection point is shown adjacent to the
proposed access.

8.5.3

Concerns regarding highway safety and increased traffic have been raised through the
public consultation. However, it is noted that Lincolnshire County Council (as Highway
Authority) stated that a separate access from Kettering Road to this part of the site could
be provided without unacceptable highway safety implications and no objection on
highway safety or traffic grounds has been raised as part of this proposal. A condition
requiring provision of a new footpath along the frontage to link with the existing footpath
has been included as per the scheme granted under S19/1519.

8.5.4

The proposal would result in adequate access, parking and turning facilities and would not
have an unacceptable adverse impact on highway safety in accordance with Core
Strategy Policy SP3 and the NPPF (section 9).

8.6

Ecology

8.6.1

Local Plan Policy EN2 together with NPPF (section 15) requires developments to
contribute towards conservation and enhancement of biodiversity and avoid and/or
mitigate any adverse impacts.

8.6.2

Concerns have been raised in relation to the impact of the development on local wildlife
and ecology. A Phase 1 Habitat Survey was originally undertaken in 2013, with an update
undertaken in relation to the extant permission. That Phase 1 Habitat Survey indicated
that development of the site would not have any significant adverse impact on any
protected species, although it did recommend some mitigation measures including the
provision of additional bat and bird boxes. It is recommended that a condition requiring the
proposed mitigation measures be attached to any consent.

8.6.3

In this respect the proposal would acceptable and in accordance with Local Plan Policy
EN2 and the NPPF (section 15).

61

8.7

Drainage

8.7.1

Local Plan Policy EN5 together with NPPF (section 14) seeks to direct development to
areas with the least probability of flooding, together with implementation of SuDS drainage
where possible, in order to minimise surface water runoff.

8.7.2

The site is in flood risk zone 1 which means it is at low risk of flooding. Limited detail has
been submitted in respect of surface water drainage, although the submitted planning
statement indicates a preference for a SuDS approach. The Local Lead Flood Authority
have raised no objections, subject to a condition requiring further detail of the surface
water drainage system.

8.7.3

In this respect the proposal is in accordance with Local Plan Policy EN5 and the NPPF
(section 14), subject to the recommended condition.

9

Section 106 Heads of Terms

9.1

The proposed development would necessitate a financial contribution towards affordable
housing via a section 106 agreement. The commuted sum would be used towards the
provision of an affordable 'Extra Care' housing development in Stamford as per the extant
permission under S19/1519.

10

Crime and Disorder

10.1

It is considered that the proposal would not result in any significant crime and disorder
implications.

11

Human Rights Implications

11.1

Articles 6 (Rights to fair decision making) and Article 8 (Right to private family life and
home) of the Human Rights Act have been taken into account in making this
recommendation. It is considered that no relevant Article of that act will be breached.

12

Planning Balance and Conclusion

12.1

Planning law requires that planning applications should be determined in accordance with
the development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. The proposal
would result in some very minor harm to the setting of the heritage assets detailed above.
The level of harm would be less than that of the previous permission S14/1207 and that
approved under S19/1519 which was deemed by the inspector to be at the lower end of
the scale of "less than substantial harm".

12.2

The public benefits of the scheme would be the provision of 3 new market houses and a
financial contribution towards the provision of an affordable 'Extra Care' housing
development in Stamford which is a sustainable location for new housing. Additional
employment from construction of the dwellings and benefits from additional spend and use
of local services are also to be noted. Further, the scheme would result in a new footpath
connection along the frontage of Kettering Road. It is considered that these public benefits

62

are sufficient to outweigh the very low level of identified harm to the surrounding heritage
assets. Further, the site already benefits from a higher density form of development.
12.3

Recommendation

12.3.1 Approve the application subject to the conditions set out in the report and subject to
completion of a S106 planning obligation securing the requirements specified in section 9
of the report. Where the S106 obligation has not been concluded prior to the Committee, a
period not exceeding twelve weeks after the date of the Committee shall be set for the
completion of that obligation.
12.3.2 In the event that the agreement has not been concluded within the twelve-week period
and where, in the opinion of the Head of Development Management, there are no
extenuating circumstances which would justify a further extension of time, the related
planning application shall be refused planning permission for the appropriate reason(s) on
the basis that the necessary criteria essential to make what would otherwise be
unacceptable development acceptable have not been forthcoming.
RECOMMENDATION: that the development is Approved subject to the following
conditions
Time Limit for Commencement
1

The development hereby permitted shall be commenced before the expiration of
three years from the date of this permission.
Reason: In order that the development is commenced in a timely manner, as set out
in Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended).

Approved Plans
2

The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the
following list of approved plans:
i.
ii.
iii.
iv.
v.
vi.
vii.
viii.
ix.
x.
xi.

Site location plan drawing no. 1980-200 A received 11 June 2020
Block Plan drawing no. 1980-201 received 9 June 2020
Plot A floor plans drawing no. 1980-204 and 1980-205 received 9 June 2020
Plot A elevations drawing nos. 1980-206 and 1980-207 received 9 June 2020
Plot A garage drawing no. 1980-208 received 9 June 2020
Plot B floor plans drawing no. 1980-209 and 1980-210 received 9 June 2020
Plot B elevations drawing nos. 1980-211 and 1980-212 received 9 June 2020
Plot B garage drawing no. 1980-213 received 9 June 2020
Plot C floor plans drawing no. 1980-214 and 1980-215 received 9 June 2020
Plot C elevations drawing no. 1980-216 received 9 June 2020
Plot C garage drawing no. 1980-217 received 9 June 2020

Unless otherwise required by another condition of this permission.
Reason: To define the permission and for the avoidance of doubt.

63

Before the Development is Commenced
3

Prior to the commencement of the development hereby permitted, a Construction
Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) shall be submitted to and approved in
writing by the local planning authority. This shall indicate measures to mitigate
against traffic generation and drainage of the site during the construction stage of the
proposed development. The development shall then be carried out in accordance
with the approved CEMP. The CEMP shall include, though not necessarily be
restricted to, the following details:
a)
b)

c)
d)
e)
f)
g)
h)
i)

j)

A site waste management plan;
A Traffic Management Plan incorporating the routing of construction traffic
and details of heavy vehicle patterns (including earliest and latest times and
suspension of trips during peak traffic times);
Measures to minimise and control noise, vibration, dust and fumes during site
preparation works;
Details of the site parking of all vehicles of site operatives and visitors;
The location, extent and duration of any temporary stockpiling areas;
Measures for wheel washing to prevent mud being deposited on the
surrounding highway;
Phasing of the development to include access construction;
Loading/unloading of plant and materials used in constructing the
development;
Construction activities will not take place outside the hours of 08:30 to 17:30
Mondays to Fridays, or 09:00 to 13:00 on Saturdays, and will not take place at
any time on Sundays or Bank/Public Holidays;
A programme of implementation for items a) to i) above.

The approved CEMP shall be strictly adhered to throughout the construction period.
Reason: In the interests of protecting the locality and highway safety during the
construction period.
4

Prior to the commencement of the development hereby permitted, a tree protection
method statement including protection plan shall be submitted to and approved in
writing by the local planning authority. The method statement and plan should have
regard to the BS5837 (2012) Trees in Relation to Design, Demolition and
Construction – Recommendations. A plan identifying which trees are to be felled and
which are to be retained should also be provided. A site-specific tree protection
scheme for the retained trees should also be submitted taking into account the
impacts from construction work, scheduling of works, foundations, hard surfaces,
drainage systems and utilities.
The approved details shall be strictly adhered to throughout the construction period.
Reason: To prevent unnecessary damage to existing trees and in accordance with
Local Plan Policy DE1.

64

5

No development to construct the dwellings shall take place until details
demonstrating how the proposed dwellings would comply with the requirements of
Local Plan Policy SB1 have been submitted to and approved in writing by the local
planning authority. The scheme shall include details of how carbon dioxide
emissions would be minimised through the design and construction of the buildings,
details of water efficiency and the provision of electric car charging points. The
approved sustainable building measures shall be completed in full, in accordance
with the agreed scheme, prior to the first occupation of the dwellings hereby
permitted.
Reason: To mitigate against the impacts of climate change and in accordance with
Local Plan Policy SB1.

During Building Works
6

Before any of the works on the external elevations for the building(s) hereby
permitted are begun, samples of the materials (including colour of any render,
paintwork or colourwash) to be used in the construction of the external surfaces shall
have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory appearance to the development and in accordance
with Policy DE1 of the adopted South Kesteven Local Plan.

7

Prior to the commencement of works on site, other than those works for site
clearance, details of the disposal of foul and surface water drainage shall be
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The approved
works shall be completed in accordance with the details and shall be provided prior
to the first occupation of the development.
Reason: To ensure the provision of satisfactory surface and foul water drainage is
provided in accordance with Local Plan Policy EN5.

8

Notwithstanding the submitted plans, before the completion of any of the dwellings,
details of a soft and hard landscaping scheme shall be submitted to and approved in
writing by the local planning authority. The scheme shall include the following:
a) Fully annotated plans showing the locations of individually planted semi-mature
trees, shrubs and hedging, which shall include planting schedules, noting species,
plant sizes and proposed numbers and densities, method of cultivation and details of
the proposed planting implementation programme;
b) Details of the boundary treatments and finished site levels/contour details;
c) Surfacing treatments of the pedestrian circulation areas, parking areas and paths.
Reason: Landscaping makes an important contribution to the development and its
assimilation with its surroundings and in accordance with Local Plan Policy DE1.

65

Before the site is occupied
9

The landscaping details approved under condition 7 shall be implemented in the first
planting season following first occupation of the development and individual plot
landscaping shall be completed before the occupation of that housing plot. If, within
a period of 5 years from its date of planting, any tree is uprooted, removed or is
destroyed or dies or becomes seriously damaged or defective, then a replacement
tree of the same species and size as that originally planted shall be planted in the
same position or another position approved by the local planning authority.
Reason: Landscaping makes an important contribution to the development and its
assimilation with its surroundings and in accordance with Local Plan Policy DE1.

10

Prior to the completion of any of the dwellings, a scheme of the provision of bat and
bird boxes shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning
authority. The boxes shall be installed prior to occupation and retained thereafter.
Reason: To ensure wildlife and habitat impacts are suitably mitigated.

11

Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby permitted, a 1.8 metre
footway to connect the development to the existing pedestrian footway on Kettering
Road at Pinfold Lane shall be provided as part of application S18/1207 in
accordance with details that shall first have been submitted to and approved in
writing by the local planning authority. The works shall also provide details of the
arrangements for the management of surface water run-off from the highway.
Reason: To ensure the site is suitably connected to the existing pedestrian network
and in accordance with Local Plan Policy ID2.

12

Before any part of the development hereby permitted is occupied/brought into use,
the external surfaces shall have been completed in accordance with the approved
details.
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory appearance to the development and in accordance
with Policy DE1 of the adopted South Kesteven Local Plan.

On-going conditions
13

Notwithstanding the provisions of Schedule 2, Part 1, Class A and Schedule 2, Part
2, Class A of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development)
(England) Order 2015 (or any order revoking or re-enacting that Order, with or
without modification), no enlargement, improvements or other alterations and no
gates, fences, walls or other means of enclosure to plots A, B and C shall be carried
out without planning permission first having been granted by the local planning
authority.
Reason: To preserve the character of the area in accordance with Local Plan Policy
DE1 and EN6.

66

Standard Note(s) to Applicant:
1

In reaching the decision the Council has worked with the applicant in a positive and
proactive manner by determining the application without undue delay. As such it is
considered that the decision is in accordance with paras 38 of the National Planning
Policy Framework.

2

The permitted development requires the formation of a new/amended vehicular
access. Applicants should note the provisions of Section 184 of the Highways Act
1980. The works should be constructed to the satisfaction of the Highways Authority
in accordance with the authority's specification that is current at the time of
construction. For further information contact 01522782070.

3

Please contact Lincolnshire County Council Streetworks and Permitting Team on
01522782070 to discuss any proposed statutory utility connections and any other
works which will be required within the public highway in association with the
development permitted under this consent. This will enable Lincolnshire County
Council to assist in the coordination and timings of these works.

Financial Implications reviewed by: Not applicable
Legal Implications reviewed by: Not applicable

67

Site Location Plan

Proposed block plan

68

Plot A Elevations

Plot B Elevations

69

Plot C Plans

Plot C Elevations

70

Agenda Item 7
Planning Committee
3 June 2021

S21/0443
Proposal:
Location:
Applicant:
Agent:
Application Type:
Reason for Referral to
Committee:
Key Issues:

Technical Documents:

Erection of warehouse with ancillary showroom space for Kyoto
Futons, 13 small Employment units for B2/B8 use together with car
parking and vehicle servicing areas.
Kyoto Futons Ltd, Hards Lane, Frognall, PE6 8RP
Mr Nick Cancea, Kyoto Futons Ltd, Hards Lane, Frognall, PE6 8RP
DT Architects, Datum House, 3 Commerce Road, Lynch Wood,
Peterborough, PE2 6LR
Full Planning Permission (Major)
Major application
Principle of development
Impact on the character of the area
Highway impact
Design and Access Statement
Transport Statement
Flood Risk Assessment and Drainage Strategy

Report Author
Chris Brown, Principal Planning Officer
01476 406080
c.brown@southkesteven.gov.uk
Corporate Priority:

Decision type:

Wards:

Growth

Regulatory

Deeping St James

Reviewed by:

Phil Jordan, Principal Planning Officer

18 May 2021

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s)
That the application is approved conditionally
71

S21/0443 – Kyoto Futons Ltd, Hards Lane, Frognall, PE6 8RP

72

1

Description of Site

1.1

The application site is located to the east of Frognall, itself to the north and east of
Deeping Gate and Deeping St James. The site is located outside of the village of Frognall
in open countryside. The site forms part of an existing small industrial estate with a mix of
manufacturing (B2) and storage (B8) uses on the site. Buildings are split between two
storey and single storey on the site, all with a similar appearance of generally grey
concrete, metal or render elevations with grey fibre cement roofs. Buildings on the
industrial estate are also a mix of ages, with some redeveloped modern buildings
alongside older industrial buildings.

1.2

The site is located to the east side of the existing industrial estate, within the wider
boundary of the site. The site is open and flat in nature with metal heras fencing to the site
boundary along Hards Lane and Custom Road. Alongside the metal fencing a series of
trees are planted within the boundary fence. Site access is taken from the existing access
on Hards Lane and a ditch forms the boundary to the southern elevation. Outside of the
site is open countryside to the north, east and south of the site.

2

Description of Proposal

2.1

The proposal is for the erection of a warehouse with ancillary showroom space for Kyoto
Futons, 13 small employment units for B2/B8 use together with car parking and vehicle
servicing areas. The proposed warehouse will sit to the south of the site, immediately to
the east of the existing Kyoto Futons building, with the 13 small employment units located
to the north of the site to the corner of Hards Lane and Custom Road. Additional car
parking and landscaping to the north, east and southern boundaries is also proposed.

2.2

The proposed 13 small industrial units will range between 62m2 and 210m2 with a total
floorspace of the small industrial units of 1281m2. The proposed buildings will be two
storey in height but single storey only internally with an eaves height of 6.00m and a ridge
height of 7.30m with a shallow pitched roof. The proposed units will be open in floorplan,
with small office, and amenity areas subdivided internally. All small industrial units will
have grey cladding panels to the external elevations, black windows and doors and grey
overhead doors. Each unit will have rooflights.

2.3

The proposed units are being applied for B2 (industrial) and B8 (storage and distribution)
uses. Any B1 (office) uses on site will be small ancillary uses to each user. Each unit is
small in size and anticipated to be for small business either seeking to start up or for short
term flexibility, or for small scale businesses seeking a longer term but small operation.

2.4

The larger warehouse building will be 2512.7m2 in total internally, split between
2112.10m2 at ground floor level and with a mezzanine level of 400.60m2. The warehouse
will be predominantly open warehouse internally (1923.9m2), with a small reception area,
office space at ground and first floor, and a small showroom (229m2) at first floor level.
The warehouse will be 36.92m in width and 60.30m in length. The warehouse building will
be 11.20m to the ridge and 9.10m to the eaves, with similar materials and colours to the
industrial buildings as above, however with additional green cladding panels to the front,
rear and side elevations.

73

2.5

The proposal includes provision of 38 parking spaces including disabled and visitor
spaces for the small industrial units and 14 additional parking spaces including disabled
spaces for the proposed warehouse. Additional tree and hedgerow planting is proposed to
the north, east and south of the proposed buildings, all within the site boundary. A planting
plan has been provided showing retention of existing trees, mixed native hedgerow to the
southern boundary, tree and shrub screening planting to the southern boundary and a mix
of silver birch, field maple, alder, lime and ornamental pear trees to the north and eastern
boundaries.

2.6

Based on a 50/50 split between B2 (industrial) and B8 (storage and distribution) for the
smaller industrial units, together with the proposed warehouse (B8), the total jobs growth
will be approx. 63 additional FTE jobs. This is based on the HCA Employment Densities
Guide (Deloitte, 2010), although could change depending on the final end users of the
smaller units.

3

Relevant History

3.1

None relevant

4

Policy Considerations

4.1

SKDC Local Plan 2011 - 2036
Policy E4 – Protection of Existing Employment Sites
Policy E5 – Expansion of Existing Businesses
Policy EN5 – Water and Flood Risk Management
Policy ID2 - Transport and Strategic Transport Infrastructure
Policy DE1 - Promoting Good Quality Design
Policy SB1 – Sustainable Building

4.2

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)
Section 6 – Building a strong, competitive economy
Section 9 - Promoting sustainable transport
Section 12 - Achieving well-designed places

4.3

Deepings Neighbourhood Plan
Policy DNP4 – Protecting Local Employment Opportunities
Policy DNP9 – Promoting best practice in design

5

Representations Received

5.1
5.1.1

Environmental Protection Services (SKDC)
Environmental Protection has reviewed the documents in respect of the above application
for erection of a warehouse and employment units at the above location and has no
comments to make.

74

5.2
5.2.1

LCC Highways & SuDS Support
No objection to the proposal. Having given due regard to the appropriate local and
national planning policy guidance (in particular the National Planning Policy Framework),
Lincolnshire County Council (as Highway Authority and Lead Local Flood Authority) has
concluded that the proposed extension to this existing business and the creation of the 13
small employment units would not be expected to have an unacceptable impact upon
highway safety or a severe residual cumulative impact upon the highway network or
increase surface water flood risk and therefore, does not wish to object to this planning
application.

5.3
5.3.1

Anglian Water
Having reviewed the development, there is no connection to the Anglian Water sewers, we
therefore have no comments.

5.4
5.4.1

Welland & Deepings IDB
The Board’s Frognall Drain bounds the site along the southern boundary and is afforded
the protection of a 9m byelaw distance. No new fences, buildings, structures, trees,
landscaping etc would be permitted within 9m of the drain without the prior written consent
of the Board. We note that there is an existing palisade fence installed at 6m away from
the drain and a concrete roadway installed just inside the fence slightly further away. We
accept that these were probably consented by the Engineer to the Board at that time.

5.4.2

A pumped discharge from the proposed sewage treatment plant is agreeable with the
Board in principle subject to the submission of an application in advance, the agreement of
technical details and payment of the application fee.

5.4.3

A proposed water surface discharge from the site is also acceptable to the Board in
principle subject to the application being made in advance, the agreement of technical
details which include a total flow discharge of up to a maximum of 5 litres per second as a
minimum practical rate, payment of the application fee and the necessary development
contribution. Any discharge outfalls should be installed as high as possible to minimise the
duration of possible submergence during wet times.

5.5
5.5.1

Peterborough City Council
Having reviewed the pending planning application (reference: S21/0443), Peterborough
City Council, as the neighbouring Local Planning Authority, has no comments to make.

5.6
5.6.1

Heritage Lincolnshire
It is considered that the site offers a potential for archaeological remains to be present
based on the extent and type of remains recorded in the vicinity. Insufficient information is
available at present with which to make any reliable observation regarding the impact of
this development upon any archaeological remains.

5.6.2

Therefore, given this it is recommended that the developer should be required to
commission a Scheme of Archaeological Work, in the form of an archaeological evaluation
to determine the presence, character and date of any archaeological deposits present at
the site. This evaluation should initially consist of trial trenching.

75

5.7
5.7.1

Deeping St James Parish Council
St James Parish Council would like some issues to be considered. Could there be
enhanced planting, ensuring the existing trees either side of the fencing on Hards
Lane/Custom Road/B1166 remain.

5.7.2

Could there be a Construction Management Plan to make sure access throughout
construction is safe, with consideration for the two 90 degree bends and access points.

5.7.3

Furthermore, consideration regarding the poor state of the roads would be advantageous.

5.7.4

After the above considerations, Deeping St James Parish Council approve this application.

6

Representations as a Result of Publicity

6.1

This application has been advertised in accordance with the Council's Statement of
Community Involvement and 1 letters of representation has been received and raises the
following points:
•
•
•
•
•

No objection to warehouse;
Industrial buildings should be more streamlined and are speculative;
No access to the site by walking;
Employment use promoted in Neighbourhood Plan;
Potential landscape impact.

7

Evaluation

7.1

Principle of Development

7.1.1

Policy E5 supports the expansion of existing businesses provided that:
a)
b)
c)
d)
e)

7.1.2

Existing buildings are re-used where possible;
Vacant land on existing employment sites is first considered;
The expansion does not conflict with neighbouring land uses;
The expansion will not impact unacceptably on the highway network; and
The proposal will not have an adverse impact on the character and appearance of
the area and/or the amenities of neighbouring occupiers.

The Deepings Neighbourhood Plan Policy DNP4 seeks to protect the site for employment
uses, stating:
‘Land at Hard’s Lane, as identified on Map 4, is safeguarded for employment uses.
Proposals for the redevelopment of part or all of the employment area other than for
employment-generating uses will not be supported’.

7.1.3

This protection includes the currently undeveloped part of the site as proposed through
this application. The site is not protected for employment uses in the Local Plan (Policy
E4); however, the Neighbourhood Plan is now ‘made’ with full weight applied.

76

7.1.4

Matters related to impact on the highway network and neighbouring land uses and
residential amenity are discussed later in this report. The site is located within the existing
industrial estate boundary (both on the ground and in policy), a protected site for
employment uses within The Deepings Neighbourhood Plan, with B class uses proposed
on the site only (and replacing existing B class uses). The proposal, located on an existing
industrial estate and of a scale similar to neighbouring employment units, is not
considered to harm the character and appearance of the locality nor conflict with
neighbouring land uses. Whilst existing buildings are not being re-used, the site is an
existing employment site that will be re-used to provide modern and flexible employment
units aimed at smaller starter units and expansion of an existing business.

7.1.5

The proposal, for B class uses on an existing protected employment site, with a scale
proposed similar to neighbouring employment uses, is considered to comply with Policy
E5 of the Local Plan and Policy DNP4 of The Deepings Neighbourhood Plan and the
proposal is considered to be acceptable in principle.

7.1.6

The proposal is considered to increase employment opportunities, creating an
employment gain on the site through the expansion of an existing business and erection of
13 small industrial units, all serving a business niche for smaller more flexible units that
help smaller and start-up businesses.

7.2

Impact on the Character of the Area

7.2.1

Policy DE1 seeks to ensure development is appropriate for its context. Further, paragraph
127 of the NPPF provides that planning policies and decisions should ensure that
developments are sympathetic to local character and history, including the surrounding
built environment and landscape setting, while not preventing or discouraging appropriate
innovation or change.

7.2.2

Policy DNP9 of The Deepings Neighbourhood Plan states that all new development must
be of a high-quality design that both physically and visually enhances and reflects its
positive features that make up the character of the local area. The scale and nature of
development should be informed by a character assessment and consideration should be
given to site characteristics, local character and settlement structure, architectural quality
and materials, landscaping, private amenity and accessibility.

7.2.3

The proposal is for the erection of one warehouse building and four further buildings split
into 13 individual industrial units. The total number of buildings on the site is five, with the
four small industrial buildings split into two pairs of smaller units, a row of four and a row of
five, however with up to 14 different users on site. The proposed buildings are 11.20m
(warehouse) and 7.30m (small units) in total height to the ridge and 9.10m and 6.00m
respectively to the eaves. Materials are stated as grey cladding wall panels to the smaller
units and a mix of grey and green cladding to the warehouse building. All roofs are grey
and windows and overhead doors are a mix of black and grey dependant on the unit.
Signage of individual units will be on an individual basis. The proposed materials are
considered to be acceptable for the proposal in its context on the existing industrial estate,
providing a modern appearance to the proposed buildings.

77

7.2.4

The proposed buildings will be sited to the east of existing buildings on the industrial
estate, within its wider site boundary. The site is surrounding by open countryside to the
north, east and south. The smaller industrial units, at 7.30m to the ridge and 6.00m to the
eaves, will be higher than the immediate adjoining buildings at the north of the site
however will be lower in height than the existing taller warehouse buildings on the site.
The proposed small industrial units will therefore be seen in the context of the
neighbouring buildings and the wider industrial estate.

7.2.5

The single warehouse proposed, at 11.20m to the ridge, is considered to be higher than
the existing buildings on site, with a maximum current height considered to be around
10m. Whilst higher than the existing buildings, through its, siting, materials and proposed
landscaping, is not considered to be harmful to the character and appearance of the area.
Whilst forming a new, high, side elevation onto Custom Road to the eastern side, this side
elevation will be softened through proposed landscaping and the warehouse building will
have a shallow roof pitch. Further, there will be gaps in the view to the proposed smaller
industrial units to the north and to the existing buildings on the site.

7.2.6

The warehouse building is therefore considered to have a localised impact on Custom
Road, however taken in a wider view, including views from public rights of way PW849
(west) and PW898 (south) at approx. distances of 550m and 650m respectively taken
together with wider views from the built up form of Deeping St James (approx. 1.3km) and
A1175 Spalding Road (approx. 2.0km) the proposed warehouse is considered to be in
keeping with the scale, appearance and form of the existing industrial estate, with no wider
landscape impact considered to result from the proposal. Views from Frognall village itself
to the site are considered to be limited, with the proposed buildings east of the existing
buildings in a direct line from Frognall.

7.2.7

The existing site boundary benefits from intermittent tree planting, mainly to its eastern
boundary to Custom Road. The applicant however has submitted a proposed planting
plan, setting out further tree, shrub and hedge planting to the site boundaries and
internally to the site together with the retention of existing trees. Additional tree planting is
proposed to the north, east and south of the site and includes a total of 6 x Alder, 26x
Silver Birch (split between standard and feathered), 3x Lime, 4x ornamental pear and 15x
Field Maple trees. In addition, to the south of the proposed warehouse will be a native tree
and shrub boundary, including Alder and Lime trees as above together with a mix of 105
shrubs and to the southern boundary of the site a mixed native hedge is proposed. Within
the site, at a low level around the car parking areas and the small industrial units will be
540 shrubs, split between dogwood, beach rose and cherry laurel.

7.2.8

By virtue of its scale and appearance, the proposal is considered to be in keeping with the
surrounding context of an industrial estate in accordance with Policy DE1 of the Local
Plan, Policy DNP9 of The Deepings Neighbourhood Plan and Section 12 of the NPPF.

7.3

Impact on Residential Amenity

7.3.1

The proposed buildings are located to the east of an industrial estate and are proposed on
undeveloped land within the wider site boundary. The proposed buildings are located
approx. 330m from the nearest dwellings of Orchardside and Five Acres, Hards Lane, to

78

the west of the site. The distance from the proposed buildings to the nearest dwelling
(Greenfields) to the east, with a direct line of site to the proposed buildings is approx.
655m.
7.3.2

The proposed buildings are not considered to result in any overlooking or overbearing
impact on the neighbouring dwellings. Whilst the warehouse building will have higher
elevations than the existing buildings, the ridge heights proposed of 11.20m and 7.30m,
are not considered to result in an overbearing impact on neighbouring dwellings when
taken with the distance to neighbouring dwellings. The potential impact of noise has been
considered, however given the large distances to neighbouring dwellings and existing
industrial use of the site, Environmental Protection Services have no objections and no
requested any further details.

7.3.3

Hours of operation of the site are not stated and will be conditioned, with proposed hours
of operation of 7:30am-6pm Monday to Friday and 8am-1pm on Saturdays, with no
operation on site on Sundays, Public and Bank Holidays is considered to be reasonable
for the business use whilst protecting neighbouring residential land uses.

7.3.4

The applicant has not submitted a construction management plan, and this has been
requested by Deeping St James Parish Council in order to inform hours of deliveries and
hours of works on site. A condition in this respect is recommended and considered to be
reasonable and necessary.

7.3.5

Taking into account the scale and nature of the proposal, together with the large distances
to neighbouring residential uses and its location adjacent to an existing industrial estate,
there is not considered to be an unacceptable adverse impact on any residential amenity,
subject to further details provided through a pre-commencement condition to include a
construction management plan. The proposal is considered to comply with Policy DE1 of
the Local Plan.

7.4

Highway Issues

7.4.1

The applicant has provided a Transport Statement (NTP, July 2020). Access to the site
will be as per the existing access from Hards Lane from the north, with the access 7.8m
wide and a 15m radii and visibility splays of 2.4m x 150m to the west and 2.4m x 65m to
the east, although traffic coming from the east (Custom Road) will have substantially lower
vehicle speeds due to the 90-degree corner. A further access to Kyoto Futons only is
located to the south east corner of the site.

7.4.2

A traffic survey undertaken in June 2020 considered the site surroundings to be lightly
trafficked, with a high of 73 vehicles westbound on Hards Lane, west of Kyoto Futons,
during the evening peak hour. Arrivals and departures to the site were low, with a high of
19 departures in the evening peak. Taken together, the traffic survey resulted in 90 twoway traffic movements in the morning peak and 127 in the evening peak. The site itself
(Kyoto Futons) does not therefore have a significant impact on traffic flows, with 12 vehicle
movements in the morning peak and 24 in the evening peak. Site traffic was split 87% on
Hards Lane and 13% via the Custom Road access, with only 1 HGV movement recorded.

79

7.4.3

When modelling proposed vehicle numbers from the proposed use of the site, the ratio to
flow capacity is minimal, and with no vehicle queuing anticipated. The proposed smaller
industrial units are modelled to generate an additional 23 two-way movements in the am
peak and 20 in the pm peak, with the warehouse considered to generate an additional 5
vehicles for each the am and pm peaks. The total two-way trips generated are therefore
28 and 25 in the am and pm peaks respectively, or less than 1 additional vehicle trip every
2 minutes.

7.4.4

Additional parking provision is provided on a basis of 1 space per 30sqm, with disabled
and visitor parking included. Cycle parking is included in each unit. Further parking is also
available in unused existing site parking. Sufficient HGV parking and turning is provided
adjacent to the warehouse and existing Kyoto building.

7.4.5

It is noted within a representation that the site is not accessible through walking. This is
not disputed, with a lack of roadside footways to the site. However, the distance from the
site to the nearest main settlement (Market Deeping/Deeping St James) is also considered
to be prohibitive for walking being over 800m away. The site is well located for cycling,
with the whole of The Deepings within a 5km radius of the site. During the traffic survey
undertaken, one cycle was observed accessing the site.

7.4.6

The Highway Authority do not raise any objections to the proposal. Access to the site and
highway safety would not be adversely affected, nor would parking and turning facilities
available on the site, with additional parking provision created. As such the proposal is
considered to comply with Policy ID2 and Section 9 of the NPPF.

7.5

Drainage

7.5.1

The applicant has provided a Flood Risk Assessment and Drainage Strategy (AE
Engineering, November 2020). The site is located wholly within Flood Zone 1, however
with Flood Zones 2 and 3 in close proximity to the south of the site, south of the existing
ditch (Frognall Drain). Frognall Drain is maintained by the IDB.

7.5.2

The site is considered to be at very low risk of flooding, with a recommendation of finished
floor levels to be 150mm above existing ground levels.

7.5.3

For the proposed drainage strategy for the proposal, the applicant undertook a ground
investigation, including infiltration testing. The infiltration testing provides scope for use of
infiltration and the proposal includes a mix of infiltration, including use of permeable
paving, and discharge to the existing watercourse to the south of the site (Frognall Drain).
Foul water will be processed through a new on site treatment plant (the existing will be
removed and replaced) and then discharged into the Frognall Drain via a pumping station.

7.5.4

The Welland and Deepings IDB have been consulted and have no objections, subject to
further applications directly to them of technical details. LCC Highways & SuDS also have
no objections to the proposal.

80

7.5.5

Subject to a proposed condition for works to be in accordance with the submitted Flood
Risk Assessment and Drainage Strategy the proposal is considered to comply with Local
Plan Policy EN5.

7.6

Ecology

7.6.1

The site is open in appearance, with a limited number of trees to the boundary. The site is
grass/turf, and with a metal heras boundary to all sides. Given the existing site location
adjacent to existing employment uses together with the lack of any suitable habitat on site,
the site is considered to have an extremely low likelihood of any protected species. The
proposal includes a series of buildings on the site, however, also includes a high number,
of tree, shrub and hedge planting. This number and mix of species planting is considered
to result in an overall betterment on the site in habitat terms.

7.6.2

The proposal is therefore considered to comply with Local Plan Policy EN2.

7.7

Sustainability

7.7.1

The proposal is for the erection of 13, modern small industrial units and a warehouse.
Suitable materials are proposed, including use of insulated cladding to the walls and roofs.
No provision for electric car charging is shown, with the units to be built without end users
secured. However, the use of a pre-occupation planning condition for the provision of
suitable electric charging points is considered to be sufficient and can therefore take into
account the needs of the future occupiers of the industrial units. Subject to such a
condition the proposal is considered to be in compliance with Local Plan Policy SB1.

8

Crime and Disorder

8.1

It is considered that the proposal would not result in any significant crime and disorder
implications.

9

Human Rights Implications

9.1

Articles 6 (Rights to fair decision making) and Article 8 (Right to private family life and
home) of the Human Rights Act have been taken into account in making this
recommendation. It is considered that no relevant Article of that act will be breached.

10

Conclusion and Planning Balance

10.1

The proposal is in accordance with Policies E5, EN2, EN5, DE1 and ID2 of the Local Plan,
Policies DNP4 and DNP9 of The Deepings Neighbourhood Plan and Sections 9 and 12 of
the NPPF and there are no material considerations that indicate otherwise, as such the
proposal is therefore recommended for approval.

81

RECOMMENDATION: that the development is Approved subject to the following
conditions:
Time Limit for Commencement
1

The development hereby permitted shall be commenced before the expiration of
three years from the date of this permission.
Reason: In order that the development is commenced in a timely manner, as set out
in Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended).

Approved Plans
2

The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the
following list of approved plans:
i.
ii.
iii.
iv.
v.
vi.

Location Plan AL101 RO1 (received on 8th March 2021)
Site Plan AL204 PO6 (received on 8th March 2021)
Block Plan AL0202 (received on 8th March 2021)
Floorplans AB201 PO1, AB0202 PO1, AB203 PO1, AB204 PO1,
AB205 PO2, AB206 PO3 (received on 8th March 2021)
Elevation Plans AB0801 PO2, AB0802 PO2, AB0803 PO2, AB804
PO2, AB805 PO2, AB806 PO2 (received on 8th March 2021)
Planting Plan TP01 (received on 20 April 2021)

Unless otherwise required by another condition of this permission.
Reason: To define the permission and for the avoidance of doubt.
Pre-commencement
Construction Method Statement
3

No development (including any site clearance/preparation works) shall be carried out
until a Construction Environmental Management Plan has been submitted to the
Local Planning Authority for approval in writing. Details shall provide the following,
which shall be adhered to throughout the period of development:
a) the parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors;
b) loading/unloading and storage of construction materials
c) wheel cleaning facilities and road cleaning arrangements;
d) measures to control the emission of dust and noise during construction;
e) a scheme for recycling/disposing of waste resulting from site preparation
and construction works;
f) hours of construction work, site opening times, hours of deliveries and
removal of materials; and
i) routeing of construction traffic

.
Reason: To minimise detrimental effects to the neighbouring amenities and the

82

amenities of the area in general, having regard to Local Plan Policy DE1 and the
National Planning Policy Framework.
Archaeology
4

Before the development hereby permitted is commenced, a written scheme of
archaeological investigation shall have been submitted to and approved in writing by
the Local Planning Authority. The archaeological investigations shall also have been
completed in accordance with the approved details before development commences.
Reason: In order to provide a reasonable opportunity to record the history of the site
and in accordance with Policy EN6 of the adopted South Kesteven Local Plan and
Paragraph 199 of the NPPF.

During building works
Drainage
5

Before the development hereby permitted is occupied, all works for the treatment of
surface and foul water drainage shall have undertaken in accordance with the
recommendations of the Flood Risk Assessment and Drainage Strategy Rev A (AE
Engineering, November 2020) and Drainage Layout Plans AEC 3000 PO1 and AEC
3001 PO2.
Reason: To ensure the provision of satisfactory surface and foul water drainage is
provided in accordance with Policy EN5 of the adopted South Kesteven Local Plan.

Materials
6

Before any part of the development hereby permitted is occupied/brought into use,
the external elevations shall have been completed using only the materials stated in
the planning application forms and approved plans unless otherwise agreed in
writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory appearance to the development and in accordance
with Policy DE1 of the adopted South Kesteven Local Plan.

Before the development is occupied
Landscaping implementation
7

Before the end of the first planting/seeding season following the occupation of any
part of the development hereby permitted, all soft landscape works shall have been
carried out in accordance with the approved soft landscaping details (Planting Plan
TP01).
Reason: Soft landscaping and tree planting make an important contribution to the
development and its assimilation with its surroundings and in accordance with
Policies DE1, EN3 and OS1 of the adopted South Kesteven Local Plan.

83

Electric Charging Points
8

Prior to occupation of the development, a schedule of electric vehicle charging points
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The
electric charging points shall be installed and available to use within 6 months of
approval of the submitted schedule.
Reason: To help reduce carbon emissions from vehicular use of the site and in
accordance with Policy SB1 of the adopted South Kesteven Local Plan.

Ongoing Conditions
Hours of operation
9

Machinery shall be operated, processes shall be carried out and deliveries shall be
taken at or despatched from the site only between 7:30am and 6pm on MondayFriday, between 8am and 1pm on Saturdays, and not at any time on Sundays or on
Bank or Public Holidays.
REASON: To prevent disturbance to the amenities of residents living in the locality
and in accordance with Policies EN4 and DE1 of the adopted South Kesteven Local
Plan.

Landscaping protection
10

Within a period of five years from the first occupation of the final dwelling/unit of the
development hereby permitted, any trees or plants provided as part of the approved
soft landscaping scheme, that die or become, in the opinion of the Local Planning
Authority, seriously damaged or defective, shall be replaced in the first planting
season following any such loss with a specimen of the same size and species as
was approved in condition above unless otherwise agreed by the Local Planning
Authority.
Reason: To ensure the provision, establishment and maintenance of a reasonable
standard of landscape in accordance with the approved designs and in accordance
with Policies DE1, EN3 and OS1 of the adopted South Kesteven Local Plan

Standard Note(s) to Applicant:
•

In reaching the decision the Council has worked with the applicant in a positive and
proactive manner by determining the application without undue delay. As such it is
considered that the decision is in accordance with paras 38 of the National Planning
Policy Framework.
•

Please contact the Lincolnshire County Council Streetworks and Permitting Team on
01522 782070 to discuss any proposed statutory utility connections and any other
works which will be required within the public highway in association with the

84

development permitted under this Consent. This will enable Lincolnshire County
Council to assist in the coordination and timings of these works.
Financial Implications reviewed by: Not applicable
Legal Implications reviewed by: Not applicable
Site Location Plan

85

Proposed Site Plan

86

Proposed Block Plan

87

Proposed Ground Floor Plan – warehouse

88

Proposed First Floor plan – warehouse

89

Proposed Elevations – warehouse

Proposed floorplans – smaller units

90

Proposed Elevations – smaller units

91

92

Site Section

Planting Plan

93

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 8
Planning Committee
3 June 2021

S21/0309
Proposal:

Location:
Applicant:
Agent:
Application Type:
Reason for Referral to
Committee:
Key Issues:

Technical Documents:

Erection of 14 no. small industrial units, B1, B2 and B8 use, including
storage, warehouse and associated works, including fenced service
yard area (Amended design as previously approved under reference
number S20/1192)
Land at Spitfire Business Park, Northfield Road, Market Deeping, PE6
8GY
Mark Shirley, Charleswood Homes, C/O Agent, 89 St Johns Road
Mark Shirley, MWS Architectural, 89 St Johns Road, Ely, CB6 3BW
Full Planning Permission
Major Development
Principle of Development
Impact of the use on the character of the area
Impact on the neighbouring properties
Highways Impacts
Drainage Strategy
Soft Landscaping Implementation and Maintenance Brief

Report Author
Adam Murray, Senior Planning Officer
01476 406080
Adam.Murray@southkesteven.gov.uk
Corporate Priority:

Decision type:

Wards:

Growth

Regulatory

Market and West Deeping

Reviewed by:

Phil Jordan, Principal Planning Officer

18 May 2021

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s)
That the application is approved conditionally
95

S21/0309 – Land at Spitfire Business Park, Northfield Road, Market Deeping, PE6 8GY

96

1

Description of Site

1.1

The application site is an existing industrial estate located to the south of Northfield Road,
situated to the north of Market Deeping. The site was granted planning permission for 19
units through S07/1622, which has been implemented, with half of those units being
constructed. That permission, which includes units on part of the site which is the subject
of this application, was confirmed as being extant through S11/0096. In addition, the
application site formed part of the site for S19/1192, which secured planning consent for 7
industrial units. More recently, the site, subject of the current application, was granted
planning permission for 14no. industrial units under S20/1192.

1.2

Adjacent to the site to the east is a residential development of 240 dwellings approved
under S16/0112, on behalf of Larkfleet Homes. The eastern side of the application site
forms the boundary with the rear gardens of dwellings approved as part of that planning
permission.

1.3

To the west of the site is undeveloped land, which has outline consent for employment
development through S14/3585 and is also allocated for employment uses in the South
Kesteven Local Plan (Site Reference: DEP-E1).

2

Description of proposal

2.1

As referenced above, the Site has previously obtained planning permission for 7no.
industrial units (S19/1106) and, more recently, for 14no. industrial units (S20/1192), via
Planning Committee, however, these schemes have not been implemented.

2.2

As previously, the current application proposes the erection of 14no. industrial units to be
delivered as one building. However, it is now proposed that these units comprise a mix of
3 different sized units (measuring circa 42 sq. metres, 57 sq. metres and 70 sq. metres,
respectively), compared to the previous permission (S20/1192), which proposed a mix of 2
different unit sizes (measuring approximately 42 sq. metres and 70 sq. metres).

2.3

The proposed change in unit sizes also results in a minor increase in the overall
floorspace proposed by the development, which now stands at 806.22 sq. metres of gross
internal floorspace, in comparison to the 784 sq. metres gross internal floor space
approved as part of the previous application.

2.4

Furthermore, the proposed industrial unit will now be clad using Kingspan MicroRib panels
– with one colour used for the front and rear elevations, and another used for the gable
ends. The previously approved scheme proposed the use of 12 different coloured panels
across the elevations.

2.5

The proposed footpath link between the application site and the adjoining Larkfleet Homes
developed has been realigned and repositioned so that it now falls within the application
site. The previous scheme indicated that provision of a footpath link running directly
adjacent to the carriageway on Northfield Road.

97

2.6

The internal site layout has also been revised to reposition to the access into the northern
parking area, so that it now lies further away from the existing pumping station. This has
resulted in minor consequential changes to the layout, which includes the relocation of the
bin storage area, the proposed cycle parking area, and a reduction of 2 car parking
spaces. The position of the proposed industrial unit remains the same as previously
approved and, therefore, would be situated at least 20 metres away from the nearest
dwelling.

2.7

There are currently no identified users / occupants for the proposed development and, as
such, the current application seeks consent for flexible B1, B2 and B8 uses. The previous
consents on the site have not specified the proposed uses but have been subject to
conditions which have restricted the uses on site to B1 and B8 uses only, in order to
safeguard the residential amenities of the future occupants of the Larkfleet Homes
development to the east. The proposal for B2 Use on the site is discussed further below.

2.8

The application form states that the proposed development would generate approximately
14 full-time job opportunities.

3

Relevant History
Reference

Proposal

Decision

Date

S20/1192

Erection of 14 industrial units,
including storage, warehouse and
associated works
Erection of 7 industrial units and
associated parking
Confirmation of Compliance with
Conditions 1 (time limit), 2 (materials),
3 (landscaping), 4 (drainage), 5
(noise), 6 (sound insulation) of
planning permission S07/1622
Re-design of units 2-10

Approved
Conditionally

07/12/2020

Approved
Conditionally
Approved

24/10/2019

Approved
Conditionally

18/02/2008

S19/1106
S11/0096

S07/1622

24/01/2011

4

Policy Considerations

4.1

SKDC Local Plan 2011 - 2036
Policy E5: Expansion of Existing Businesses
Policy E6: Loss of Employment Land and Buildings to Non-Employment Uses
Policy EN1: Landscape Character
Policy EN4: Pollution Control
Policy EN5: Water Environment and Flood Risk Management
Policy DE1: Promoting Good Quality Design
Policy SB1: Sustainable Buildings
Policy ID2: Transport and Strategic Transport Infrastructure

98

4.2

Neighbourhood Plan for the Deepings 2020-2036
Policy DN4: Protecting Local Employment Opportunities
Policy DNP9: Promoting Best Practice in Design
Policy DNP16: Developing Sustainable Travel and enhancing Local Transport Infrastructure

4.3

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)
Section 2: Achieving Sustainable Development
Section 4: Decision Making
Section 6: Building a strong, competitive economy
Section 9: Promoting Sustainable Transport
Section 12: Achieving well-designed places
Section 15: Conserving and enhancing the natural environment

5

Representations Received

5.1
5.1.1

Anglian Water
No objection, subject to foul water drainage condition

5.2
5.2.1

Heritage Lincolnshire
No archaeological comments to make.

5.3
5.3.1

Lincolnshire County Council – Highways and SUDs Support
No objections.

5.3.2

The access is as approved under S20/1192, parking and turning are provided for the units
within the site, therefore, it is considered that the proposals would not result in an
unacceptable impact on highway safety.

5.4
5.4.1

Welland and Deepings Internal Drainage Board
No comments.

5.5
5.5.1

SKDC Environmental Protection
No comments to make on the amended design submitted. We would still require the Noise
Condition for the initial application S20/1192 as detailed.

5.6
5.6.1

Parish Council
Comment.

5.6.2

Consideration should be given to the ratio of units and car parking spaces available,
including provision for the installation of vehicle charging points.

5.6.3

Consideration to implementing measures to support the climate emergency declaration.

5.6.4

Concerns about the use of the units due to the limited information available at this time.

6

Representations as a Result of Publicity

6.1

This application has been advertised in accordance with the Council’s Statement of
Community Involvement and no letters of representation have been received.

99

7

Evaluation

7.1

Principle of Development

7.1.1

Local Plan Policies E5 (Expansion of Existing Businesses) and E6 (Loss of Employment
Land and Buildings to Non-Employment Uses) seek to protect existing employment sites
and allow existing businesses to expand. Similarly, Policy DN4 (Protecting Local
Employment Opportunities) of the Neighbourhood Plan for the Deepings also seeks to
protect existing employment sites and supports proposals for new employment
developments. Additional support for the development of existing businesses is set out in
the National Planning Policy Framework (Section 6), in which Paragraph 80 states that
planning decisions should help create the conditions in which businesses can invest,
expand and adapt.

7.1.2

The principle of developing the site for further industrial uses, and for a development of
14no. industrial uses has already been established through the extant planning
permissions, S07/1622, S19/1106 and S20/1192.

7.1.3

However, as stated above, the current application specifically references the proposed
use of the site for B1, B2 and B8 uses whereas the recent planning consent had been
granted subject to conditions restricting the use of the site to B1 and B8 uses only, in order
to protect the residential amenities of the approved Larkfleet Homes scheme. Thus, in
considering the principle of B2 uses on the Site, Local Plan Policy E5 and Neighbourhood
Plan Policy DNP4 support the expansion of existing businesses and new employment
developments, subject to compliance with a series of identified criteria, which seek to
ensure that such proposal would not result in any unacceptable adverse impacts.
Therefore, the principle of B2 uses on the site would be considered acceptable, subject to
the proposals not resulting in any adverse impacts on the surrounding area. The potential
impacts of the scheme are discussed further below.

7.1.4

Furthermore, the current application also seeks a change in the mix of unit sizes in
comparison to the previous scheme, which results in a minor increase in the overall
footprint of the proposed industrial building. As stated above, Local Plan Policy E5 and
Neighbourhood Plan Policy DNP4 supports the expansion of existing businesses and new
employment developments, and, therefore, the proposed increase in overall footprint of
the building and the change in unit sizes in considered acceptable in principle, subject to
detailed design considerations, set out below.

7.1.5

Therefore, the principle of employment development at this location has already been
established and the current proposals are considered acceptable in principle, subject to
detailed design considerations, in accordance with Local Plan Policies E5 and E6,
Neighbourhood Plan Policy DNP4 and the National Planning Policy Framework (Section
6).

100

7.2

Impact of the use on the character of the area

7.2.1

Local Plan Policy DE1 states (amongst other criteria) that to ensure that high quality
design is achieved throughout the District, all development proposals will be expected to
make a positive contribution to the local distinctiveness, vernacular and character of the
area. Proposals should reinforce local identity and not have an adverse impact on the
streetscene, settlement pattern or the landscape / townscape character of the surrounding
area. Proposals should be of an appropriate scale, density, massing, heigh and material,
given the context of the area. Similarly, Policy EN1 seek to ensure development is
appropriate for its context.

7.2.2

Further, Neighbourhood Plan Policy DNP4 supports new employment proposals subject to
schemes being visually attractive, compatible with the character of the surrounding area
and include necessary screening, and be of a scale, design and appearance appropriate
to the locality, particularly, where development can be viewed from the highways, public
spaces or residential areas. Neighbourhood Plan Policy DNP9 requires (amongst other
criteria) that all new development must be of high-quality design that both physically and
visually enhances and reflects its positive features that make up the character of the local
area.

7.2.3

Furthermore, Paragraph 127 of the Framework provides that planning policies and
decisions should ensure that developments are sympathetic to local character and history,
including the surrounding built environment and landscape setting, while not preventing or
discouraging appropriate innovation or change.

7.2.4

As set out above, the application site benefits from an extant planning permission for
14no. industrial units (S20/1192) and, therefore, the current proposals fall to be
considered against this identified “fallback” position.

7.2.5

The application site is set within an existing industrial estate where there are other
industrial and commercial buildings. The proposed unit would be sited centrally within the
site, on the first half, closest to the highway network, and set away from all surrounding
boundaries of the site, including the adjacent residential development to the east.

7.2.6

The current application proposes a different mix of unit sizes and, as a result, an increase
in the overall footprint of development to be delivered, when compared to the existing
permissions. The increase in the overall gross internal floorspace of the proposed
development is considered to be minor, when considered in the context of the existing
permissions. The scale of the proposals is still considered to be appropriate in the context
of the character and appearance of the local area. Further, the layout of the development
still allows for appropriate landscaping opportunities and buffers around the building,
including the provision of an appropriate separation distance between the proposed
building and the residential properties to the east, to enable a suitable transition between
the different uses.

101

7.2.7

Furthermore, the current proposals seek a change in the proposed external materials of
the building; proposing to use two different colours of Kingspan MicroRib panels when
compared to the twelve different colours proposed as part of the approved scheme. The
revised external appearance of the building is considered to be appropriate for the local
character and context, which includes other existing industrial buildings.

7.2.8

The proposed development is considered to be appropriate in appearance and scale to
ensure that it does not have any adverse impacts on the character of the local area. A
condition is recommended to secure the delivery of the proposed soft landscaping scheme
which would help to further reduce the visual and residential amenity impacts. As such, in
this respect, the proposal is considered to be in accordance with Local Plan Policies DE1
and EN1, Neighbourhood Plan Policies DNP9 and the NPPF (Section 12).

7.3

Impact on the neighbouring properties

7.3.1

Local Policy DE1 of the Local Plan states:
To ensure high quality design is achieved throughout the District, all development
proposals will be expected to:
a) Make a positive contribution to the local distinctiveness, vernacular and character of
the area. Proposals should reinforce local identity and not have an adverse impact
on the streetscene, settlement pattern or the landscape / townscape character of
the surrounding area. Proposals should be of an appropriate scale, density,
massing, height and material, given the context of the area;
b) Ensure there is no adverse impact on the amenity of neighbouring users in terms of
noise, light pollution, loss of privacy and loss of light and have regard to features
that minimise crime and the fear of crime; and
c) Provide sufficient private amenity space, suitable to the type and amount of
development proposed.

7.3.2

Deeping Neighbourhood Plan Policy DNP4 states the new employment development
should not generate an unacceptable impact on the amenity of existing residential
properties from its proposed, height, scale, noise, smell, vibrations, glare, dust, emissions,
vehicle movements or its operating hours. Similarly, Neighbourhood Plan Policy DNP9
requires all new development to safeguard the amenities of residential properties in the
immediate area by way of the alignment and the layout of new buildings and ensure that
any associated landscaping is appropriate.

7.3.3

Paragraph 127 of the Framework also states that planning decisions should create places
that have a high standard of amenity for existing and future users.

7.3.4

Consistent with the recently approved scheme, the building would be located centrally
within the site and would be set away from the eastern boundary, at a minimum distance
of 20 metres, to provide an appropriate separation between the proposed industrial
building and the adjacent residential properties.

102

7.3.5

No end users have currently been identified for the units, however, the current application
specifically references use of the site for B1, B2 and B8 use. The recent consent for the
site also did not identify any specific end users, however, it was subject to a condition
restricting use of the site to B1 and B8 uses only, which was considered necessary to
avoid any noise issues that may arise with uses in the B2 class.

7.3.6

As stated above, use of the Site for Class B2 uses is considered acceptable in principle,
subject to detailed design considerations, which includes the protection of appropriate
amenities. In the absence of the identification of the end users for the site, it is considered
difficult to accurately assess the potential noise impacts. Therefore, it is considered
necessary to impose a condition which requires the submission of an appropriate Noise
Impact Assessment prior to the occupation of any of the proposed units by uses falling
within Use Class B2. The assessment would be required to demonstrate that use of the
site for B2 uses would not have an unacceptable adverse impact on the amenities of
adjacent land users and, any identified noise mitigation measures would also be required
to be implemented prior to occupation.

7.3.7

Furthermore, a condition restricting hours of operation has also been included in-line with
the previous permission:
7am - 7pm Monday - Friday
7am - 12 noon Saturday
closed Sundays and Bank Holidays

7.3.8

A condition requiring further details of any external plant has also been included so that
the impacts from those developments can be accurately assessed. Similarly, a condition
requiring further details of external lighting has been included so that the impacts from
those proposals can be accurately assessed.

7.3.9

Having regard to the nature and scale of the proposal, it is considered that the
development would not lead to any unacceptable impacts on the amenities of the
occupiers of neighbouring properties and would be in line with Local Plan Policy DE1 and
Neighbourhood Plan Policies DNP4 and DNP9, subject to appropriately worded conditions
being attached.

7.4

Highway issues

7.4.1

As stated previously, the current application seeks a revised internal Site Layout, which
proposes a repositioned access into the northern car parking area to accommodate an
increased separation from the existing pumping station. This has resulted in additional
consequential amendments, when compared to the approved scheme, which include a
reduction in 2 car parking space and the repositioning of the proposed cycle building so
that it is now positioned at either end of the building rather than 1 central parking area.
The scheme also proposes the realignment and repositioning of the proposed footpath link

103

to the adjacent Larkfleet Homes development, so that it is now situated within the
application site, set back from the main carriageway of Northfields Road.
7.4.2

In respect of the revised location of the cycle parking, it is considered that the amended
location of the cycle parking remains in a convenient position within the site in order to
encourage use.

7.4.3

Similarly, the revised position of the footway connecting the site to the adjacent Larkfleet
Homes development is considered to be an improvement on the approved scheme,
insofar as it would now be situated away from the carriageway on Northfields Road and,
therefore, is likely to encourage enhanced usage.

7.4.4

The provision of the cycle parking and footpath prior to the units being occupied has been
secured by condition.

7.4.5

The Highway Authority have raised no objection to the revised details and therefore, the
parking, turning and access arrangements are considered acceptable and in accordance
with Local Plan Policy ID2 and Neighbourhood Plan DNP16 and the NPPF (section 9),
subject to appropriately worded conditions.

7.5

Drainage

7.5.1

Details of surface water drainage have been submitted to which Lincolnshire County
Council (as Lead Local Flood Authority) have raised no objection. Anglian Water have
requested a condition requiring details of a foul water strategy. These are considered
necessary to ensure the development does not lead to any flood risks within the site or for
the adjacent properties under construction and in accordance with Local Plan Policy EN5.

7.6

Ecology

7.6.1

The site is previously developed land, with an existing hardstanding (concrete) base to the
site and mixed self/seeded planting on the site only. It is therefore considered that there is
no evidence of protected species on site and an extremely limited potential for protected
species to be using the site, therefore no further surveys have been recommended. The
proposal is therefore considered to comply with Local Plan Policy EN2.

7.7

Sustainable Buildings

7.7.1

Local Plan Policy SB1 requires all development proposals to mitigate against and adapt to
climate change, to comply with national and contribute to local targets on reducing carbon
emissions and energy uses; this includes the provision of electric vehicle charging points
as part of development proposals.

7.7.2

Similarly, Paragraph 148 of the Framework states that the planning system should support
the transition to a low carbon future.

104

7.7.3

Representations made by the Parish Council have requested consideration is given to the
provision of vehicle charging points and measures to support the climate change emergency
declaration.

7.7.4

The provision of electric vehicle charging points and other appropriate measures in
accordance with Local Plan Policy SB1 are secured by condition.

8

Conclusion

8.1

Taking the above into account, it is considered that the proposal is appropriate for its
context and is in accordance with the NPPF (Sections 6, 9 and 12), Local Plan Policies
E5, E6, DE1, EN1, EN2, EN4, EN5 and ID2, and Neighbourhood Plan Policies DNP4,
DNP9 and DNP16. There are no material considerations that indicate that planning
permission should not be granted in accordance with the Development Plan, although
conditions have been attached.

9

Crime and Disorder

9.1

It is considered that the proposal would not result in any significant crime and disorder
implications.

10

Human Rights Implications

10.1

Articles 6 (Rights to fair decision making) and Article 8 (Right to private family life and
home) of the Human Rights Act have been taken into account in making this
recommendation.

10.2

It is considered that no relevant Article of that act will be breached.
RECOMMENDATION: that the development is Approved subject to the following
conditions
Time Limit for Commencement
1

The development hereby permitted shall be commenced before the expiration of
three years from the date of this permission.
Reason: In order that the development is commenced in a timely manner, as set out
in Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended).

Approved Plans
2

The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the
following list of approved plans:
(a) Site Location Plan received 15 February 2021
(b) Proposed Site Plan (Ref: 308/P/100/D)

105

(c) Detailed Planting Proposals Plan (Ref: 308/P/105/B)
(d) Drainage Strategy (Ref: 100/REVP5)
(e) Engineering Drawing (Ref: 101/REVP2)
(f) Engineering Drawing (Ref: 102/REVP2)
(g) Proposed Floor and Elevation Plan (Ref: 308/P/104/REVB)
Unless otherwise required by another condition of this permission.
Reason: To define the permission and for the avoidance of doubt.
During Building Works
3

Prior to the construction above damp-proof course, a scheme for on-site foul water
drainage works, including connection point and discharge rate, shall be submitted to
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Prior to the occupation of
any phase, the foul water drainage works relating to that phase must have been
carried out in complete accordance with the approved scheme.
Reason To prevent environmental and amenity problems arising from flooding.

4

Before installation of any external plant, final details of the position, type, external
appearance, noise emissions and shall have been submitted to and approved in
writing by the local planning authority.
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory development and to ensure that neighbours'
residential amenity is adequately protected and to comply with Policy DE1 of the
adopted South Kesteven Local Plan.

Before the Development is Occupied
5

No development shall take place until details demonstrating how the proposed units
would comply with the requirements of Local Plan Policy SB1 has been submitted
and approved by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall include details of
how carbon dioxide emissions would be minimised through the design and
construction of the buildings, details of water efficiency and the provision of electric
car charging points. The approved sustainable building measures shall be completed
in full, in accordance with the agreed scheme, prior to the first occupation of the
buildings hereby permitted.
Reason: To ensure the proposed units are constructed to a standard that mitigates
against climate change as required by Local Plan Policy SB1.

6.

Prior to the occupation of any part of the site for a use falling within Use Class B2 of
the Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987 (or any order revoking or
amending that order), a Noise Impact Assessment, demonstrating that such uses
would not adversely impact the amenities of existing uses, will be submitted and
approved by the Local Planning Authority. Any mitigation measures identified as
being necessary shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details prior
to the occupation of the unit.

106

Reason: To ensure neighbouring uses amenities are protected in accordance with
Policy DE1 of the adopted South Kesteven Local Plan and the NPPF (Section 12).
7

Before the end of the first planting/seeding season following the first use of any part
of the development hereby permitted, all soft landscape works shall have been
carried out in accordance with the approved soft landscaping details on drawing no.
308/P/105/REVB.
Reason: Soft landscaping and tree planting make an important contribution to the
development and its assimilation with its surroundings and in accordance with Local
Plan Policy DE1.

8.

Notwithstanding details on the approved plans, before first occupation of the units
hereby approved, details of a vehicular and pedestrian link to land to the west of the
site together with a timetable of implementation must be submitted and approved by
the Local Planning Authority.
The approved details should be implemented in accordance with the agreed
timetable.
Reason: To ensure the connectivity aims of Local Plan Policy ID2 are met.

9

Before any part of the development hereby permitted is brought into use, all hard
landscape works shall have been carried out in accordance with the approved hard
landscaping details on drawing no. 308/P/100 Rev D.
Reason: Hard landscaping makes an important contribution to the development and
its assimilation with its surroundings and in accordance with Local Plan Policy DE1.

10

Before any part of the development hereby permitted is brought into use, the
external elevations shall have been completed using only the materials stated in the
planning application forms and indicated on drawing no. 308/P/104/REV B
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory appearance to the development and in accordance
with Local Plan Policy DE1.

Ongoing Conditions
11

No external lighting shall be installed unless they have been first submitted to and
approved in writing by the local planning authority.
Reason: To ensure that neighbours' residential amenity is adequately protected in
accordance with Policy DE1 of the adopted South Kesteven Local Plan.

12

Within a period of five years from the first occupation of the final unit of the
development hereby permitted, any trees or plants provided as part of the approved
soft landscaping scheme, die or become, in the opinion of the Local Planning
Authority, seriously damaged or defective, shall be replaced in the first planting

107

season following any such loss with a specimen of the same size and species as
was approved in condition above unless otherwise agreed by the Local Planning
Authority.
Reason: To ensure the provision, establishment and maintenance of a reasonable
standard of landscape in accordance with the approved designs.
13

Noise from operations conducted on the premises shall not exceed 55 dBa Leq 1
hour, as measured at the boundaries of the application site, between the hours of
0700 and 1900 on Mondays to Fridays and 0700 and 1200 on Saturdays, and 45
dBa Leq 1 hour at any other time.
Reason: To ensure neighbour's residential amenities are protected in accordance
Policy DE1 of the adopted South Kesteven Local Plan and the NPPF (section 12).

14

Notwithstanding the provisions of Schedule 2, Parts 3 and 4 of the Town and
Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (or any
order revoking or re-enacting that Order with or without modification), the premises
shall only be used for the purposes specified below and for no other purpose unless
Planning Permission for a new use of the premises has been granted by the Local
Planning Authority:
-

Uses permitted by Classes B1, B2 and B8 of the Town and Country Planning
(Use Classes) Order 1987 (as amended)

Reason: The use of the premises for any other purpose would require further
consideration of the impacts on the neighbouring residential properties.
15

Following the development hereby permitted first being brought into use, the vehicle
parking and turning areas shall have been completed in accordance with approved
drawing no. 308/P/100 Rev D; and shall not be used for any purpose other than for
the parking and turning of private vehicles and motorcycles belonging to the
occupants of the property and their visitors.
Reason: To ensure that adequate parking provision is provided and retained in order
to minimise on street parking and to ensure that vehicles can enter and leave
premises in a forward gear in the interests of highway safety.

Standard Note(s) to Applicant:
1

In reaching the decision the Council has worked with the applicant in a positive and
proactive manner by determining the application without undue delay. As such it is
considered that the decision is in accordance with paras 38 of the National Planning
Policy Framework.

2

Please contact the Lincolnshire County Council Streetworks and Permitting Team on
01522 782070 to discuss any proposed statutory utility connections and any other
works which will be required within the public highway in association with the

108

development permitted under this Consent. This will enable Lincolnshire County
Council to assist in the coordination and timings of these works.
3

Notification of intention to connect to the public sewer under S106 of the Water
Industry Act Approval and consent will be required by Anglian Water, under the
Water Industry Act 1991. Contact Development Services Team 0345 606 6087

4

Protection of existing assets - A public sewer is shown on record plans within the
land identified for the proposed development. It appears that development proposals
will affect existing public sewers. It is recommended that the applicant contacts
Anglian Water Development Services Team for further advice on this matter.
Building over existing public sewers will not be permitted (without agreement) from
Anglian Water.

5

Building near to a public sewer - No building will be permitted within the statutory
easement width of 3 metres from the pipeline without agreement from Anglian Water.
Please contact Development Services Team on 0345 606 6087.

6

The developer should note that the site drainage details submitted have not been
approved for the purposes of adoption. If the developer wishes to have the sewers
included in a sewer adoption agreement with Anglian Water (under Sections 104 of
the Water Industry Act 1991), they should contact our Development Services Team
on 0345 606 6087 at the earliest opportunity. Sewers intended for adoption should
be designed and constructed in accordance with Sewers for Adoption guide for
developers, as supplemented by Anglian Water’s requirements.

109

Site Location Plan:

110

Elevations:

111

Proposed Site Layout:

Financial Implications reviewed by: Not applicable
Legal Implications reviewed by: Not applicable

112

Agenda Item 9
Planning Committee
3 June 2021

S20/2018
Proposal:
Location:
Applicant:
Agent:

Outline application for a single storey dwelling
17 Churchill Avenue, Bourne, PE10 9QA
Mr James, 17, Churchill Avenue, Bourne, PE10 9QA
Kate Westwood, Peter Smith Associates, Orion House, 14 Barn Hill,
Stamford, PE9 2AE
Application Type:
Outline Planning Permission
Reason for Referral to At the request of Cllr Crawford
Committee:
Key Issues:
Principle of Development
Impact of the development on the character of the area
Impact on neighbouring residential amenities
Highways Impacts

Report Author
Shikha Dasani, Senior Planning Officer
01476 406080
shikha.dasani@southkesteven.gov.uk
Corporate Priority:

Decision type:

Wards:

Growth

Regulatory

Bourne Austerby

Reviewed by:

Phil Jordan, Principal Planning Officer

17 May 2021

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s)
That the application is approved conditionally

113

S20/2018 - 17 Churchill Avenue, Bourne, PE10 9QA

114

1

Description of Site

1.1

The application site lies within the main built-up area of Bourne and is situated at the end
of a residential street, which leads into a cul-de-sac.

1.2

The site forms part of the garden space for 17 Churchill Avenue. It is bound to the north,
south and west by existing residential properties (including the host property), and is
bound to the east by a site which benefits from extant planning permission for two
detached dwellings (S20/0877).

1.3

The current application seeks outline planning permission (all matters reserved) for a
single-storey dwelling. Access to the site would be taken from the street between 17 and
19a Churchill Avenue.

2

Description of Proposal

2.1

As stated above, the current application seeks outline planning permission (with all
matters reserved) for a single storey dwelling. A previous application for two dwellings on
the site was withdrawn, following concern from officers that it constituted overdevelopment
of the plot.

2.2

It should also be noted that this current application was originally submitted in outline (all
matters reserved) for a 3-bedroom dwelling, although an indicative plan showed a 1 ½
storey dwelling. However, officers again raised concerns about a development of this
scale and form within this location and, as such, the description of development was
revised to the current details.

2.3

Whilst all detailed design matters are reserved for subsequent determination, the
submitted plans indicate that access to the site would be taken via Churchill Avenue,
utilising the access point which forms part of the front boundary of the existing residential
property. In addition, an indicative layout plan has been submitted showing the principal
elevation of the property facing Churchill Avenue, with private amenity space to serve the
proposed dwelling to the front, side and rear.

2.4

The existing property would retain garden space to the rear of the current dwelling, and
appropriate space for parking provision has been demonstrated for the existing and
proposed properties.

115

3

Relevant History
Reference

Proposal

Decision

Date

S20/1246

Erection of 2no. 3 bed dwellings in the
garden space (outline planning
permission with all matters reserved)
Two storey and single storey side
extensions
Residential development and access

Withdrawn

06.10.2020

Approved
Conditionally
Approved
Conditionally

12.04.2003

S03/2063
SK.1056/80
(3857)

28.08.1980

4

Policy Considerations

4.1

SKDC Local Plan 2011 - 2036
Policy SD1 – Principles of Sustainable Development in South Kesteven
Policy SP2 - Settlement Hierarchy
Policy SP3 - Infill Development
Policy EN4 – Pollution Control
Policy DE1 - Promoting Good Quality Design
Policy SB1 – Sustainable Buildings

4.2

National Planning Policy Framework
Section 2 – Achieving Sustainable Development
Section 4 – Decision Making
Section 5 – Delivering a sufficient supply of homes
Section 9 – Promoting Sustainable Transport
Section 12 – Achieving well-designed places
Section 15 – Conserving and enhancing the natural environment

5

Representations Received

5.1
5.1.1

LCC Highways & SuDS Support
No objections.

5.1.2

Notes that the current application is an outline planning application with all matters
reserved. In order to support any subsequent reserved matters application, the applicant
will need to make consideration of sufficient parking spaces for the proposed and host
dwelling.

5.1.3

The proposed access arrangements will need to be a minimum of 4.1 metres wide if
shared with the host dwelling or show other arrangements if both are separate.

5.1.4

Also identifies that land within the site are subject to surface water flooding for 1:30 and
1:100 year events. As Lead Local Flood Authority, Lincolnshire County Council is required
to provide a statutory planning consultation response with regard to surface water risk on
all Major applications. This application is classified as a Minor Application and it is
therefore the duty of the Local Planning Authority to consider the surface water risk for this
planning application.

116

Bourne Town Council
5.1.5

Objection. The application constitutes an unacceptable over-development of the site, the
access to the site is compromised and there is a history of drainage problems in the area.

6

Representations as a Result of Publicity

6.1

This application has been advertised in accordance with the Council's Statement of
Community Involvement and 6 letters of objections has been received. The points raised
by objectors can be summarised as follows:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Major access concerns, including parking issues related to the nearby school.
The proposal runs very close to our boundary wall.
There is also this problem with the foul sewer, it is already overloaded.
Overdevelopment of the area
Overlooking and privacy issues
Concerns over character
Flooding concerns

7

Evaluation

7.1

Principle of Development

7.1.1

In accordance with Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, the
application is to be determined in accordance with the local development plan, unless
material considerations indicate otherwise. The Council’s adopted Local Plan 2011-2036
forms the Development Plan for the District and therefore is the basis for decision making.
A neighbourhood plan is being developed for Bourne, although it currently holds no weight
in terms of decision making.

7.1.2

The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and the associated National Planning
Practice Guidance (NPPPG) are material considerations in the determination of planning
application, and also contain policies and advice to guide the decision maker.

7.1.3

As identified within the Planning History for the site, it is noted that the application site has
historically benefited from planning permission for residential development and an
associated access and, as such, the principle of residential development on this land has
previously been considered acceptable. Notwithstanding the above, the historical
consents are not considered to be extant planning permissions and therefore only carry
limited weight in terms of current decision making.

7.1.4

Policy SD1: Principles of Sustainable Development in South Kesteven of the Local Plan
sets out the overarching obligation for development proposals to minimise its impact on
climate change and contribute towards a strong, stable and more diverse economy. The
policy requires consideration of a number of issues including the impact of development
on climate change, minimising the need to travel, avoiding areas of flood risk, encouraging
the used of previously developed land, meeting current and future housing demand and
enhancing the character of the District.

117

7.1.5

Policy SP1 sets out the spatial strategy for the District and advises that decisions on the
location and scale of new development will be taken on the basis of the settlement
hierarchy in Policy SP2.

7.1.6

Bourne is recognised as a market town within the settlement hierarchy. Policy SP2 states
that “development which maintains and supports the role of the three market towns of
Stamford, Bourne and The Deepings, will be allowed provided that it does not compromise
their nature and character. Priority will be given to the delivery of sustainable sites within
the built-up part of the town and appropriate edge of settlement extensions”.

7.1.7

Policy SP3 (Infill Development) identifies that infill development, which is in accordance
with all other relevant Local Plan policies, will be supported provided that:
(a) It is within a substantially built-up frontage or redevelopment opportunity
(previously developed land)
(b) It is within the main built up part of the settlement
(c) It does not cause unacceptable impact on the occupiers’ amenity of adjacent
properties
(d) It does not extend the pattern of development beyond the existing built form; and
(e) It is in keeping with the character of the area and is sensitive to the setting of
adjacent properties.

7.1.8

Furthermore, the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) outlines at Paragraph 59
that “to support the Government’s objective of significantly boosting the supply of homes, it
is important that a sufficient amount and variety of land can come forward where it is
needed, that the needs of group with specific housing requirements are addressed and
that land with permission is developed without unnecessary delay”. Paragraph 68 of the
Framework also recognises the important contribution to that small to medium sites can
make to meeting the housing requirement for the area.

7.1.9

As set out above, the site lies within the main built up area of Bourne, which is considered
to be a sustainable location for growth. The application site currently consists of private
garden amenity space for the host dwelling (17 Churchill Avenue) and is bound to the
north, south and west by existing residential properties, and to the east by approved
residential development. The site, therefore, is situated within a substantially built up
frontage and would not extend the pattern of development beyond the existing built form.
As such, the location of the site would comply with criteria (a), (b) and (d) of Policy SP3.
Development in this location is considered to be acceptable in principle, subject the
proposals not having an unacceptable impact on neighbouring amenities (criterion (c)),
and the development being in keeping the character of the area and sensitive to the
setting of adjacent properties (criterion (e)). These matters are discussed in greater detail
in other sections of this report.

7.1.10 Taking the above into account, development in this location would be in accordance with
Policies SD1, SP1, SP2 and SP3 of the adopted Local Plan and Section 5 of the NPPF
and, therefore, the principle of development in considered to be acceptable, subject to the
considerations of scale and relationship with the existing character and appearance of the
area.

118

7.2

Impact on the character and appearance of the area

7.2.1

As detailed above, Policy SP3 (Infill Development) identifies that infill development will be
considered acceptable subject to the proposals being in keeping with the character of the
area.

7.2.2

Furthermore, Local Plan Policy DE1 (Promoting Good Quality Design) states (amongst
other criteria) that to ensure high quality design is achieved throughout the District, all
development proposals will be expected to make a positive contribution to local
distinctiveness, vernacular and character of the area. Proposals should reinforce local
identity and not have an adverse impact on the streetscene, settlement pattern of the
landscape / townscape character of the surrounding area. Proposals should be an
appropriate scale, density, massing, height and material given the context of the area.

7.2.3

Paragraph 124 of the Framework states that good design is a key aspect of sustainable
development, creates better places in which to live and work and helps make development
acceptable to communities. Paragraph 127 goes on to identify that planning decisions
should ensure that developments will function well and add to the overall quality of the
area, and new development should be visually attractive as a result of good architecture,
layout and appropriate and effective landscaping.

7.2.4

The current application is in outline form, with all matters reserved for future determination.
Upon original submission, the proposal was for a 3-bedroom dwelling, shown indicatively
over two storeys. However, Officers identified concerns about development of this scale
and form within this location and therefore, the description of development was
subsequently revised. As such, the description of the development confirms that the
proposed dwelling would be single-storey only. A development of this scale is considered
to be possible without causing an unacceptable or adversely prominent addition to the
existing street scene, subject to an appropriate detailed design.

7.2.5

The application site is surrounded by existing residential properties on the north, south
and west, whilst it is bound to the east by an approved residential development for twodwellings. As such, the proposal would be seen within an established residential context.
The proposed single-storey dwelling would be situated in a narrow plot between existing
two-storey properties. However, it is noted that properties on the northern side of Churchill
Avenue are predominantly single storey and, similarly, and some of these properties are
situated within narrow plots fronting the highway.

7.2.6

Whilst the access onto the site would be at a slight angle from the existing cul-de-sac,
LCC Highways have not identified any highways safety concerns, and such arrangements,
are not considered to be significantly detrimental to the character of the area. The
application site is considered to be capable of providing sufficient garden space to meet
the needs of the proposed dwelling, and the retain sufficient private amenity space for the
host property.

119

7.2.7

The current application is in outline only, with all matters reserved for subsequent
determination. Therefore, subject to the detailed design of the proposed development,
which falls to be considered at the reserved matters stage, it is considered that
development of a single-storey dwelling on this site would not appear to be cramped or out
of place, and would not be detrimental to the overall character or appearance of the area.
As such, in principle, the proposal would therefore, be in accordance with Policy SP3(e)
and Policy DE1 of the Local Plan, and Section 12 of the Framework with regards to being
appropriate for the character and appearance of the area.

7.3

Impact on the neighbours’ residential amenities

7.3.1

Criterion (c) of Policy SP3 states that infill development will only be considered acceptable
where it does not cause an unacceptable impact on occupiers’ amenity of adjacent
properties.

7.3.2

Furthermore, Policy DE1 (Promoting Good Quality Design) of the adopted Local Plan
states (amongst other criteria) that all development proposals will be expected to ensure
that there is no adverse impact on the amenity of neighbouring users in terms of noise,
light pollution, loss of privacy ad loss of light, and should provide sufficient private amenity
space, suitable to the type and amount of development proposed. Policy EN4 (Pollution
Control) seeks to minimise the impacts of pollution on air, land and water quality.

7.3.3

Paragraph 127 of the NPPF states that developments should create places that are safe,
inclusive and accessible and which promote health and well-being, with a high standard of
amenity for existing and future users; and where crime and disorder, and the fear of crime,
do not undermine the quality of life or community cohesion and resilience.

7.3.4

The proposed outline application, with all matters reserved, is considered, in principle, to
not cause an adverse impact to the residential amenities of neighbouring occupiers,
subject to appropriate detailed designs. The siting of the proposed dwelling; coupled with
the size of the application site; the position of neighbouring properties; and the indicative
scale of development being limited to a single storey dormer dwelling, would ensure that
the proposed scheme could be delivered without causing an undue impact on the
amenities of neighbouring properties.

7.3.5

Therefore, in principle, it is considered that the application site is capable of
accommodating a single-storey dwelling, as described, without causing an adverse impact
on the residential amenities of neighbouring occupiers. These matters would also be
assessed in further detail as part of any future reserved matters application.

7.3.6

Thus, it is considered that there are no fundamental issues to indicate that the application
site could not accommodate a development of the description proposed. It is considered
that, in principle, the site could accommodate a single storey dwelling whilst maintaining
appropriate levels of amenity for all existing and future occupants, subject to detailed
design considerations. As such, the proposal would accord with Local Plan Policies
SP3(c), EN4 and DE1 and Section 12 of the NPPF.

120

7.4

Highway Issues

7.4.1

Local Plan Policy ID2 seeks to minimise the use of travel by car and maximise sustainable
transport modes. The policy also requires development proposals not to result in any
unacceptable highway safety impacts or result in severe cumulative traffic impacts.
Paragraph 109 of the NPPF states that development should only be prevented or refused
on highways grounds if there would be an unacceptable impact on highway safety, or the
residual cumulative impacts on the road network would be severe.

7.4.2

The current application is in outline, with all matters reserved for future determination.
However, Drawing Ref: 19/4153/04/A indicates how the dwelling could be positioned to
ensure that cars have sufficient space to access the site and can appropriately turn /
manoeuvre within the Site.

7.4.3

Lincolnshire County Council (as Highway Authority) have commented to advise the
applicant of the appropriate parking provision and access width that should be provided as
part of any future reserved matters application. However, they have confirmed that they
have no objections to the current application proposals.

7.4.4

Therefore, it is considered that the proposals would not result in an unacceptable impact
on highway safety and, as such, the application is in accordance with Local Plan Policy
ID2 and Section 9 of the Framework.

7.5

Drainage and Flood Risk

7.5.1

Local Plan Policy EN5 and the NPPF (Section 14) require development to be located in
the lowest areas of flood risk and not to increase the risk of flooding elsewhere.

7.5.2

The application site is within Flood Zone 1 (at the lowest risk of fluvial flooding), however
Lincolnshire County Council have highlighted the potential for surface water flooding.
Therefore, a pre-commencement condition to secure a suitable surface water drainage
strategy is recommended.

8

Crime and Disorder

8.1

It is considered that the proposal would not result in any significant crime and disorder
implications.

9

Human Rights Implications

9.1

Articles 6 (Rights to fair decision making) and Article 8 (Right to private family life and
home) of the Human Rights Act have been taken into account in making this
recommendation. It is considered that no relevant Article of that act will be breached.

121

10

Conclusion

10.1

Planning law requires that planning applications should be determined in accordance with
the development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. Taking the above
into account, it is considered that the location of development, being situated within the
built-up area of Bourne, is considered to be acceptable. Whilst the site is acknowledged as
being relatively small, on balance, it is considered that a modest single storey dwelling
could be delivered on the application site in a manner that would be appropriate for the
character and appearance of the area, and would not result an unacceptable adverse
impacts on the amenities of existing and future occupants.

10.2

Therefore, the proposed development is considered to be in accordance with Policy SD1,
SP1, SP2, SP3, EN4 and DE1 of the Local Plan and Sections 5, 9 and 12 of he NPPF.
There are no material considerations which would indicate that planning permission
should not be granted in accordance with the development plan, although conditions have
been attached. Consequently, the proposed development is considered acceptable.

10.3

RECOMMENDATION: that the development is Approved subject to the following
conditions
Time Limit for Commencement
1

The development hereby permitted shall be commenced before the expiration of
three years from the date of this permission or two years from the approval of the
last of the reserved matters, whichever is the latter.
Reason: In order that the development is commenced in a timely manner, as set out
in Section 92 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended).

2

Details of the reserved matters set out below shall have been submitted to the Local
Planning Authority for approval within three years from the date of this permission:
i.
ii.
iii.
iv.
v.

access;
scale
appearance
layout
landscaping

Approval of all reserved matters shall have been obtained from the Local Planning
Authority in writing before any development is commenced.
Reason: To enable the Local Planning Authority to control the development in detail
and in order that the development is commenced in a timely manner, as set out in
Section 92 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended).

122

Approved Plans
3

The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the
following list of approved plans:
i.

Drawing No: 19 4153 01 Received 26th Nov 2020

Unless otherwise required by another condition of this permission.
Reason: To define the permission and for the avoidance of doubt.
Before development is commenced
4

Before the development hereby permitted is commenced, a scheme for the
treatment of surface water drainage shall have been submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development must be carried out in
accordance with the approved details.
Reason: To ensure the provision of satisfactory surface and foul water drainage is
provided in accordance with Policy EN5 of the adopted South Kesteven Local Plan.

Ongoing Conditions
4

When an application is made for approval of Reserved Matters, details/samples of
the materials (including the walling materials, roofing materials and boundary wall) to
be used in the construction of the external surfaces, shall be submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The external surfaces shall be
completed in accordance with the approved details.
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory appearance to the development and in accordance
with Policy DE1 of the adopted South Kesteven Local Plan.

5

When an application is made for approval of Reserved Matters, details of proposed
electric vehicle charging points to be made available on site for use for the occupiers
of the dwelling shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. The electric vehicle charging points shall be completed/installed in
accordance with these approved details and shall thereafter be retained as such for
the lifetime of the development.
Reason: To ensure that the development contributes to low carbon travel in
accordance with Policy SB1 of the South Kesteven Local Plan (2020).

6

Notwithstanding the submitted details relating to the boundary treatments on block
plan ref: 19 4153 02A received on 19th Jan 2021, when the first application is made
in connection with the reserved matters, details of soft landscaping works and
boundary treatments shall have been submitted to and approved in writing by the
Local Planning Authority. The submitted scheme shall include;
a)

Boundary treatments to all boundaries on the site

123

b)

Planting schedules (species, sizes and densities)

Reason: To provide a satisfactory appearance to any boundary treatments, in the
interests of the privacy and amenity of the occupants of the proposed and
neighbouring dwellings. To contribute to the development and its assimilation with its
surroundings and in accordance with Policy DE1 of the adopted South Kesteven
Local Plan.
Standard Note(s) to Applicant:
1

In reaching the decision the Council has worked with the applicant in a positive and
proactive manner by determining the application without undue delay. As such it is
considered that the decision is in accordance with paras 38 of the National Planning
Policy Framework.

Financial Implications reviewed by: Not applicable
Legal Implications reviewed by: Not applicable
Location Plan

124

125

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 10
Planning Committee
3 June 2021

S20/1915
Proposal:
Location:
Applicant:
Agent:
Application Type:
Reason for Referral to
Committee:
Key Issues:

Technical Documents:

Change of use from agricultural to equestrian, construction of new
vehicle access, stable block, menage, alterations to drainage and
extension of domestic garden.
Ellfield House, Hanthorpe Road, Stainfield
Mr John Ellington
None
Full Planning Permission
Major application (Site greater than 0.5 Ha)
3 June 2021
Principle of development
Character and appearance of the area
Residential amenity
Drainage and flooding
Pollution
None

Report Author
Steve Cadman, Development Management Planner
01476 406383
s.cadman@southkesteven.gov.uk
Corporate Priority:

Decision type:

Wards:

Growth

Regulatory

Aveland

Reviewed by:

Phil Jordan, Principal Planning Officer
Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s)
Approved Conditionally

127

17 May 2021

S20/1915 – Ellfield House, Hanthorpe Road, Stainfield, PE10 0RR

128

1

Description of Site

1.1

The site is a field located on the western side of Hanthorpe Road, on the edge of the
village of Stainfield. There is an existing access from Hanthorpe Road (which is a
Classified Road) at the south-eastern corner of the site. A public footpath passes just
outside the southern boundary of the site, and across the fields to the west and southwest.

2

Description of proposal

2.1

This application proposes a change of use of the site from its current agricultural use. Part
of the site would be used for domestic equestrian use and part would become garden
land. A new vehicle access would be constructed from Hanthorpe Road. On the
equestrian part of the site a stable block would be constructed and there would also be a
50m by 25m menage. A new dyke would be constructed along the side of the menage
and would link two existing dykes at the northern and southern sides of the field. The
northern dyke would be partially cleaned out and partially backfilled, while the southern
dyke is to be cleaned out. There would be other, more minor, works within the site
including new fencing and gates.

3

Relevant History

3.1

No recent relevant planning history.

4

Policy Considerations

4.1

SKDC Local Plan 2011 - 2036
Policy SP5 – Development in the open countryside
Policy DE1 – Promoting good quality design
Policy EN4 – Pollution control
Policy EN5 – Water environment and flood risk management
Policy ID2 – Transport and strategic transport infrastructure

4.2

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)
Section 9 – Promoting sustainable transport
Section 12 – Achieving well-designed places
Section 14 – Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change
Section 15 – Conserving and enhancing the natural environment

5

Representations Received

5.1
5.1.1

Environmental Protection
The waste bedding and manure from the keeping of horses requires to be kept such that it
does not cause a risk of pollution to water courses from its storage and handling and that
every effort is made for its end use as an agricultural fertiliser.

129

5.2
5.2.1

Parish Council
With regard to the above application Haconby & Stainfield Parish Council have no
observations to make.

5.3
5.3.1

LCC (Highways & SuDS Support)
Having given due regard to the appropriate local and national planning policy guidance (in
particular the National Planning Policy Framework), Lincolnshire County Council (as
Highway Authority and Lead Local Flood Authority) has concluded that on the
understanding that the proposed change of use of the agricultural land to equestrian use,
and an extension to the domestic curtilage of Ellfield House, the construction of a stable
block and the formation of a new vehicular access onto Hanthorpe Road would be for the
personal use only of those who are residents of Ellfield House, the change of
use/development would not be expected to have an unacceptable impact upon highway
safety and therefore, does not wish to object to this planning application.

5.3.2

The Applicants should be advised to seek confirmation from the Internal Drainage Board
that the proposed new dyke and the diversion of water from one existing watercourse to
another would not adversely affect the drainage regime in this area.

5.4
5.4.1

Black Sluice Internal Drainage Board
Provided this development does not have any adverse effect on any adjacent land or
property owners, such as flooding or waterlogging, then we have no issue. If anything, the
works are likely to improve drainage, and from what he has told me, some of the works he
[the applicant] has carried out so far in preparation have alleviated a number of historical
drainage issues, which can only be a good thing.

5.4.2

I have also stated that if he intends to install new or replace existing structures within
existing watercourse (in particular any existing access off Hanthorpe Road), then he would
need our consent as per Section 23 Land Drainage Act 1991. Any new watercourses
created do not require our consent.

6

Representations as a Result of Publicity

6.1

This application has been advertised in accordance with the Council's Statement of
Community Involvement and 2 letters of representation has been received. The points
raised can be summarised as follows:
1. Potential nuisance from odours from the stables.
2. Construction of the stables has started without the granting of permission.

7

Evaluation

7.1

Principle of development

7.1.1

Local Plan policy SP5 limits development to that which has an essential need to be
located outside of the existing built form of settlements, supporting certain types of
development, including equine development.

130

7.1.2

The equestrian components of the proposal therefore comply with Local Plan policy SP5.

7.1.3

The proposed extension of the garden belonging to Ellfield House is in effect a change of
use from agricultural to residential. Whilst this would not strictly speaking comply with
policy SP5, given that only a small area of land is involved, the similarities between garden
use and the proposed domestic equestrian use, and that it would not, in itself, result in any
operational development, the principle of development is accepted. The potential visual
and other impacts of this aspect of the proposal are discussed below.

7.2

Impact on the character of the area

7.2.1

Local Plan Policy DE1 requires development to make a positive contribution to the
character of the area, avoiding harm to the streetscene. This is consistent with NPPF
Section 12 (Achieving well-designed places) which amongst other things states that
developments should be visually attractive as a result of good architecture, layout and
effective landscaping.

7.2.2

The stable block and other items of minor development proposed would be of a type which
would not look out of place in the proposed location. Moreover, they would be set back
from both the roads around the site, and also the public footpath running past the side and
rear so they would therefore not be unduly prominent either.

7.2.3

The proposed change of use of part of the site to garden land would also have only a
minor visual impact. It is noted that domestic outbuildings (potentially with a substantial
footprint) could subsequently be constructed on the land, without the need to apply for
planning permission. It is therefore recommended to attach a condition removing
permitted development rights to construct outbuildings, ensuring that the Local Planning
Authority are able to assess the scale and impact of any such development in future.

7.2.4

By virtue of the design, scale and materials to be used, the proposal would therefore be in
keeping with the surrounding context in accordance with Policy DE1 of the South
Kesteven Local Plan and NPPF Section 12.

7.3

Impact on residential amenity (of neighbours)

7.3.1

Local Plan policy DE1 requires all development proposals to ensure there is no adverse
impact on the amenity of neighbouring users in terms of noise, light pollution, loss of
privacy and loss of light. This is consistent with NPPF section 12 (Achieving welldesigned places) which amongst other things states that development should create
places with a high standard of amenity for existing and future users.

7.3.2

The proposed stable block has the potential to generate odours, however it would be
substantially set back from nearby dwellings, and is not therefore considered to present a
significantly greater risk to residential amenity than the existing agricultural use of the land.

7.3.3

Taking into account the scale and nature of the proposal, and adequate separation
distances, there would be no unacceptable adverse impact on the residential amenities of

131

the occupiers of adjacent properties in accordance with the NPPF Section 12, and Policy
DE1 of the South Kesteven Local Plan.
7.4

Highway issues

7.4.1

Local Plan Policy ID2 deals with transport issues, requiring that new developments should
not severely impact on the safety and movement of traffic on the highway network. This
policy is consistent with NPPF section 9 (Promoting Sustainable Transport) which
amongst other things states that development should only be prevented or refused on
highways grounds if there would be an unacceptable impact on highway safety, or the
residual cumulative impacts on the road network would be severe.

7.4.2

It is noted that Lincolnshire County Council as Local Highway Authority have no
objections, and it is therefore considered that the proposal would not have an
unacceptable adverse impact on highway safety in accordance with Local Plan policy ID2
and the NPPF Section 9.

7.5

Drainage and Flooding

7.5.1

Local Plan policy EN5 together with NPPF Section 14 seeks to direct development to
areas with the least probability of flooding, together with implementation of SuDS drainage
where possible, in order to minimise surface water runoff.

7.5.2

The site has not been identified as being at unusual risk fluvial flooding. Although some
small areas in the south-eastern corner of the field have been identified as being at risk
from surface water flooding, this part of the field is to be used for grazing, and so no
unacceptable risk to life or property would result.

7.5.3

It is stated on the application form that surface water is to be disposed of to a pond. It is
noted that neither the Lead Local Flood Authority nor the Internal Drainage Board have
raised any objections to the proposal, and in view of the relatively small scale of the
proposal this is considered to be satisfactory.

7.5.4

In view of the above, the proposal is considered to be in accordance with the NPPF
Section 14: Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change) and
Local Plan policy EN5.

7.6

Pollution Control

7.6.1

Local Plan policy EN4 states that development which would result in significant
environmental pollution will not be permitted. This is consistent with NPPF section 15
which states that planning decisions should prevent new development from contributing to
unacceptable levels of pollution.

7.6.2

The concerns of the Council’s Environmental Protection section are noted regarding
management of manure from the development, however it is considered that the use of
planning conditions and/or an environmental management plan to manage a relatively
small scale, domestic equestrian development of this type would be both excessive and

132

difficult to enforce. Such a condition would therefore not meet the tests for a lawful
planning condition.
7.6.3

In view of this the proposal is therefore considered to comply with Local Plan Policy EN4
and to have regard to section 15 of the NPPF.

7.7

Crime and Disorder

7.7.1

It is considered that the proposal would not result in any significant crime and disorder
implications.

7.8

Human Rights Implications

7.8.1

Articles 6 (Rights to fair decision making) and Article 8 (Right to private family life and
home) of the Human Rights Act have been taken into account in making this
recommendation. It is considered that no relevant Article of that act will be breached.

7.9

Conclusion and Planning Balance

7.9.1

The proposal is in accordance with Local Plan policies SP5,DE1,EN4,EN5 and the NPPF
(sections 9,12,14,15) and there are no material considerations that indicate otherwise, and
the proposal is therefore recommended for approval.
RECOMMENDATION: that the development is Approved/Allowed subject to the
following conditions
Time Limit for Commencement
1

The development hereby permitted shall be commenced before the expiration of
three years from the date of this permission.
Reason: In order that the development is commenced in a timely manner, as set out
in Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended).

Approved Plans
2

The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the
following list of approved plans:
i.
ii.

Drawing Title 'Site and Location Plans', Drawing No. ES/JCE/2020/01
received by the Local Planning Authority on 6th November 2020
Drawing Title 'Stable Block and General Arrangement', Drawing No.
ES/JCE/2020/02 Rev A received by the Local Planning Authority on 12th
November 2020.

Unless otherwise required by another condition of this permission.
Reason: To define the permission and for the avoidance of doubt.

133

Ongoing Conditions
3

Notwithstanding the provisions of Schedule 2, Part 1, Class E of the Town and
Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (or any
order revoking or re-enacting that Order with or without modification), no building,
enclosure, swimming or other pool or container used for domestic heating purposes
shall be constructed on the new garden area hereby approved without Planning
Permission first having been granted by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: The Local Planning Authority considers that further development could
cause detriment to the amenities of the occupiers of nearby properties or to the
character of the area, and for this reason would wish to control any future
development and in accordance with Policy DE1 of the adopted South Kesteven
Local Plan.

Standard Note(s) to Applicant:
1

In reaching the decision the Council has worked with the applicant in a positive and
proactive manner by determining the application without undue delay. As such it is
considered that the decision is in accordance with paras 38 of the National Planning
Policy Framework.

2

The permitted development requires the formation of a new/amended vehicular
access. These works will require approval from the Highway Authority in accordance
with Section 184 of the Highways Act. The works should be constructed in
accordance with the Authority's specification that is current at the time of
construction. Relocation of existing apparatus, underground services or street
furniture will be the responsibility of the applicant, prior to application. For approval
and specification details, please contact vehiclecrossings@lincolnshire.gov.uk

3

The Applicants are advised to seek confirmation from the Internal Drainage Board
that the proposed new dyke and the diversion of water from one existing
watercourse to another would not adversely affect the drainage regime in this area.

134

Location Plan

135

Proposed Site Plan

136

Proposed Stable Block

Financial Implications reviewed by: Not applicable
Legal Implications reviewed by: Not applicable

137

This page is intentionally left blank

